
 
Rent Stabilization Board 

 

RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 
Regular Meeting 

Thursday, March 17, 2022 
7:00 p.m. 

 
PUBLIC ADVISORY: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e)(3), City Council Resolution 70,030-N.S., and City of 
Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board (Rent Board) Resolution 21-29, this meeting of the Rent Board will be 
conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference. Please be advised that pursuant to 
the Resolutions and the findings contained therein that the spread of COVID-19 continues to be a threat to the 
public health and that holding meetings of City legislative bodies in person would present imminent risks to 
the health and safety of the public and members of legislative bodies. Therefore, there will not be a physical 
meeting location available. 
 
To access this meeting remotely: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device by clicking on this 
URL: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87860075481?pwd=a2RZaDdMK1duME9TbVBaNUtKVkh1QT09. If you 
do not wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop-down menu and click on "Rename" to 
rename yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “Raise hand” icon by rolling over the bottom 
of the screen. 
 
To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 and enter Meeting ID: 878 6007 5481 and Passcode: 109891. If you 
wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the 
Chair. 
 
To submit an e-mail comment, email amueller@cityofberkeley.info with the Subject line in this format: 
“RENT BOARD MEETING PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM.” Please observe a 150-word limit. Written 
comments will be entered into the public record.  Email comments must be submitted to the email address 
above by 5:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting in order to be included.  
 
Please be mindful that this meeting will be recorded, and all other rules of procedure and decorum will apply 
for Rent Board meetings conducted by teleconference or videoconference. 
 
This meeting will be conducted in accordance with Government Code Section 54953, 54956, and all current 
state and local requirements allowing public participation in meetings of legislative bodies. Any member of 
the public may attend this meeting. Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to DéSeana Williams, 
Executive Director, at (510) 981-7368. The Rent Board may take action related to any subject listed on the 
Agenda.

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87860075481?pwd=a2RZaDdMK1duME9TbVBaNUtKVkh1QT09
mailto:amueller@cityofberkeley.info


 

2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT)  TDD: (510) 981-6903  FAX: (510) 981-4940 
EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info   WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent 

RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 
Regular Meeting 

Thursday, March 17, 2022 
7:00 p.m. 
 
AGENDA 

*Times allotted for each item are approximate and may be changed at the Board’s discretion during 
the course of this meeting. 
 

1. Roll call – 1 min.* 
 

2. Land Acknowledgment Statement:  The Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board recognizes that 
the rental housing units we regulate are built on the territory of xučyun (Huchiun-(Hooch-
yoon)), the ancestral and unceded land of the Chochenyo (Cho-chen-yo)-speaking Ohlone 
(Oh-low-nee) people, the ancestors and descendants of the sovereign Verona Band of Alameda 
County. This land was and continues to be of great importance to all of the Ohlone Tribes and 
descendants of the Verona Band. As we begin our meeting tonight, we acknowledge and honor 
the original inhabitants of Berkeley, the documented 5,000-year history of a vibrant 
community at the West Berkeley Shellmound, and the Ohlone people who continue to reside 
in the East Bay.  We recognize that Berkeley’s landlords and tenants have and continue to 
benefit from the use and occupation of this unceded stolen land since the City of Berkeley’s 
incorporation in 1878 and since the Rent Stabilization Board’s creation in 1980. As stewards 
of the laws regulating rental housing, it is not only vital that we recognize the history of this 
land, but also recognize that the Ohlone people are present members of Berkeley and other 
East Bay communities today. 
 

3. Approval of Agenda – 1 min.* 
 

4. Public Comment – 2 min. per speaker for non-agendized items* 
 

5. SPECIAL PRESENTATION:  “Densifying Berkeley: Potential Impacts on Displacement 
and Equity” by the Anti-Eviction Mapping Project 
 

6. CONSENT ITEMS – 1 min.* 
 

a. Approval of February 17, 2022 regular meeting minutes 
 

7. Public Comment – 2 min. per speaker for items on the agenda* 
 

8. ACTION ITEMS 
from Board Members, Committees, Executive Director or Staff 
 

a. Mid-Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Budget Report and recommendation to adopt Resolution 
22-03 authorizing changes to the Staffing Model (Budget & Personnel Committee) – 
15 min.* 
 

mailto:rent@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/rent


March 17, 2022 Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board Meeting agenda 
Page 3 
 

 

b. Discussion and possible action to have the Board take a position on Assembly Bill 
(AB) AB-2469 Housing: Statewide Rental Registry (Chair Simon-Weisberg & Vice-
Chair Alpert) – 10 min.* 
 

c. Discussion and possible action to have the Board take a position on AB-2297 Tenancy: 
fee in lieu of a security deposit (Chair Simon-Weisberg & Vice-Chair Alpert) – 10 
min.* 
 

d. Discussion and possible action to have the Board take a position on AB-2713 Tenant 
protections: just cause termination: rent caps (Chair Simon-Weisberg & Vice-Chair 
Alpert) – 10 min.* 
 

e. Discussion and possible action to recommend various amendments to the Rent 
Stabilization and Eviction for Good Cause Ordinance to be placed on the November 
2022 general election ballot (LIRA Committee) – 20 min.* 
 

f. Recommendation to adopt Resolution 22-04 calling for Alameda County Supervisors 
to continue the Countywide COVID-19-related Eviction Moratorium (Chair Simon-
Weisberg) – 5 min.*  TO BE DELIVERED 
 

9. INFORMATION, ANNOUNCEMENTS AND ARTICLES/MEDIA 
from Board Members, Committees, Executive Director or Staff 
 
Note:  The Board may vote to move Information Items to the Action Calendar. 
 

a. Update on remote meeting possibilities for future meetings – Verbal (General Counsel) 
– 5 min.* 
 

b. Deadline to submit comments for the City’s Housing Element Administrative Draft is 
April 1st (Chair Simon-Weisberg) – 2 min.* 
 

c. Update regarding restoring commissioners’ access to their Rent Board email accounts – 
Verbal  (Chair Simon-Weisberg/Board Secretary) – 2 min.* 
 

d. Update on the City’s Website Reinvention Project timeline and the Rent Board’s 
content migration – Verbal  (Executive Director/Board Secretary) – 2 min.* 
 

e. Berkeley Rent Board presentation at FLEJCON Conference on March 12, 2022 – 
Verbal (Executive Director) – 3 min.* 
 

f. February 23, 2022 memo from City Manager Dee Williams-Ridley regarding the 
California Community Housing Agency Middle Income Rental Housing Program 
(CalCHA) & 2020 Kittredge Street Acquisition Information (Chair Simon-Weisberg) – 
2 min.* 
 



March 17, 2022 Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board Meeting agenda 
Page 4 
 

 

g. March 12, 2022 “Community Health is Wealth Fair” event flyer (Executive Director) – 
1 min.* 
 

h. Date to submit agenda topics/items for the April 21st Rent Board meeting: Monday, 
April 11th at 5:00 p.m.  NOTE: This is a hard deadline and will be enforced. 
 

10. COMMITTEE/BOARD MEETING UPDATES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

a. Budget and Personnel Committee (Commissioner Chang, Chair) – 5 min.* 
Next regularly-scheduled meeting:  Tuesday, March 29th at 5:00 p.m. 
 
March 8th agenda 
 

b. Eviction/Section 8/Foreclosure Committee (Commissioner Mendonca, Chair) – 5 
min.* 
Next regularly-scheduled meeting:  Thursday, March 24th at 5:30 p.m. 
 

c. Legislation, IRA/AGA & Registration Committee (LIRA Committee) (Commissioner 
Kelley, Chair) – 5 min.* 
Next regularly-scheduled meeting:  Tuesday, April 5th at 5:00 p.m. 
 
March 9th agenda 
 

d. Outreach Committee (Commissioner Laverde, Chair) – 5 min.* 
Next regularly-scheduled meeting:  Wednesday, March 16th at 5:15 p.m. 
 
March 16th agenda 
 

e. 2 x 2 Committee on Housing: Rent Board/Berkeley Unified School District (Chair 
TBA) – 3 min.* 
Regularly-scheduled meeting date:  TBA 
 

f. 4 x 4 Joint Committee on Housing: City Council/Rent Board – 5 min.* 
(Mayor Arreguín and Chair Simon-Weisberg, Committee Co-Chairs) 
Next regularly-scheduled meeting:  Wednesday, March 23rd at 3:00 p.m. 
 
February 23rd agenda packet 
 

g. Ad Hoc Committee on Rent Board Technology Issues (Commissioner Selawsky, 
Chair) – 3 min.* 
Next meeting date:  TBA 
 

h. Updates and Announcements – 3 min.* 
 

i. Discussion of items for possible placement on future agenda – 5 min.* 
 



March 17, 2022 Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board Meeting agenda 
Page 5 
 

 

11. CLOSED SESSION:  The Board will meet in closed session as follows: 
 

a. Public Employee Evaluation of Performance pursuant to California Government Code 
Section 54957(b)(1) 
 
Title: Executive Director 
 

b. Conference with Labor Negotiators pursuant to California Government Code Section 
54957.6 
  
Agency Designated Representative: Board Chair  
Unrepresented Employee: Executive Director 
 

c. Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54956.9(a), the Board also will 
convene in closed session for an update on litigation: 
 
Williams, et al. v. Alameda County, Alameda County Board of Supervisors, City of 
Oakland, Oakland City Council (United States District Court for the Northern District 
of California Case 3:22-cv-01274-LB) – amicus brief 
 

The Board will announce any action taken during closed session when they return to open session. 
 

12. ACTION ITEM:  Oral recommendation regarding proposed changes, if any, to salary and/or 
fringe benefits of Executive Director (Full Board) – 10 min.* 
 

13. ACTION ITEM:  Discussion and possible approval of changes, if any, to salary and/or fringe 
benefits of Executive Director (Full Board) – 10 min.* 
 

14. ADJOURNMENT 

 
COMMUNICATIONS DISCLAIMER: 
 
Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public record and will 
become part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s website. 
Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not required, but if 
included in any communication to a City board, commission or committee, will become part of the 
public record. If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact information to be made 
public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service to the secretary of the relevant board, 
commission or committee. If you do not want your contact information included in the public record, 
please do not include that information in your communication. Please contact the secretary to the 
relevant board, commission or committee for further information. 



• 

l I
Item 5.



Overview Berkeley, like many California and Bay Area cities,        is 
experiencing an affordable housing crisis.

As the City of Berkeley contemplates how to implement SB 9 and revise the Housing Element 
with denser zoning laws to build more housing, this study investigates the impacts of upzoning
and densification, especially on Black, brown, and low-income renters.

Our recommendations focus on how Berkeley can use zoning reform in 
combination with its strong tenant protections to distribute the benefits of 
upzoning more equitably, and to mitigate the risks of displacement and of 
racial exclusion.

• Between 2005-2019, the median gross rent for the city increased by over 50%

• In 2019, 53% of tenant households in Berkeley are rent burdened, and almost a third
spent more than 50% of their income on rent



DEBATES AROUND UPZONING



Densification 
and the false
YIMBY vs.
NIMBY 
dichotomy



ZONING IN BERKELEY



Image shows racially discriminatory HOLC map of Berkeley. Areas in North and 
southeast Berkeley are green and blue, indicating white populations, while West and 
South Berkeley are red, indicating neighborhoods with Black or Asian communities. 

Current residential zoning in Berkeley reflects legacies of racist exclusionary practices:
A majority of the city is zoned for R1-R1A, R2-R2A

Image shows current residential zones in Berkeley. 



Affordable housing, most of which are achieved through inclusionary bonuses, have only accounted for 
8.6% of all permits in this RHNA cycle (2015-2023)

Current development practices favor market-rate housing

Our studies shown in future slides indicate that upzoning policies must address this deficit in housing 
development in order to protect low income communities and further racial equity



BERKELEY’S AFFORDABLE HOUSING
CRISIS

KEY FINDINGS FROM THIS SECTION:

• THE PRIVATE MARKET IS UNABLE TO PRODUCE SUFFICIENT LEVELS OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING,
EVEN WITH SUBSIDIES AND OTHER INCENTIVES.

• AFFORDABLE HOUSING IS MORE EFFECTIVE AT COMBATING DISPLACEMENT THAN MARKET-
RATE DEVELOPMENT.

• THE GREATEST DEFICIT IN BERKELEY’S HOUSING SUPPLY LIES AT LOW INCOME (50-80% AMI)
AND VERY LOW INCOME (<30-50% AMI) LEVELS; ONLY 30% OF THESE RESIDENTS ARE
ADEQUATELY HOUSED.



Source: American Community Survey, 2019 5-yr estimate

Berkeley residents who are Black, Indigenous, and people of color are disproportionately 
renters rather than homeowners and are therefore disproportionately vulnerable to high 
rents and rent burden. 

53% of Berkeley renter households were rent burdened in 2019: a total of 13,794 households



Increase in rent 
& displacement 
of low income 
renters

2019, the estimated average rent in Berkeley was $3,165 per month. 

Between 2005-2019, the median gross rent paid (including estimated cost of 
utilities) in Berkeley increased by over 50%, and:

• Households earning $200,000 or more per year increased by 124%

• In contrast, households in Berkeley earning less than $75,000 per year decreased
22.8%

*NOTE: not all of these households are renters, though a majority are
Sources: U.S. Census Bureau ACS 5-yr 
estimate; Zumper

• Black residents, who are primarily renter
households, decreased by 21%, a rate
higher than any other racial or ethnic
group



42.6% of tenancies 
lasted from 0-1 years

22.7% of tenancies 
lasted from 2-4 years

13.4% of tenancies 
lasted from 5-9 years

20.8% of tenancies 
lasted 10+ years

Since 1999, 90.7% of rent stabilized units have risen to market rate in between tenant 
vacancies, which further diminishes the supply of truly affordable units for low-income 
renters seeking housing.

Source: Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board, tenancy data 2005-2021



The median rent ceiling for stabilized units has about doubled from 2005-2021

Source: Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board, tenancy data 2005-2021

In Q3 of 2021, the median rent ceiling for the 1,801 units with tenancies starting before 1999 was $832.87
This compares to the remaining 17,599 units that undergo vacancy decontrol-recontrol, whose median rent was $2,263.52



Our studies find that additional affordable units decreased the likelihood of 
displacement, while an increase in general supply of housing remained inconclusive in 
its impact to mitigate displacement.

This RHNA cycle, only 233 units have been permitted at Low-Income (50 – 80% AMI) or Very Low Income (< 50% AMI) levels, 
continuing the decades-long pattern of relying on market-rate development to solve the housing crisis.

Source: City of Berkeley & Alameda County Assessor’s Office 



70% of households below 80% of Area Median Income (AMI) occupy units that are 
unaffordable to them. 



6,314 households earning up to 30% AMI occupy more expensive housing. In contrast, only 122 households earning 
above 100% AMI live in a higher affordability category; all 120%+ AMI residents are adequately housed. 

Lowest income groups are severely inadequately housed.



The deficit in available units 
at high income levels is 
attributable to lower 
income households who 
are pushed up and out of 
their own affordability 
categories by an absolute 
lack of affordable housing.

Access to affordable units on the market, as well as deficit in overall supply, is 
a significant barrier to low-income households being adequately housed.



Current West Berkeley and South Berkeley residents are the most vulnerable to 
displacement by densification; North Berkeley and southeast Berkeley residents have 
minimal or low risk.



CASE STUDY FINDINGS
SOUTH OF CAMPUS AREA & DOWNTOWN BERKELEY

WEST BERKELEY



SOUTH OF UC CAMPUS AREA:

DOWNTOWN BERKELEY AREA:

WEST BERKELEY:

Rezoned in 2012

Rezoned in 2011

Rezoned in 1998 

Surge in development in the 2010s

Increased density in Berkeley 
neighborhoods has not led to 
greater racial integration and 
opportunities for vulnerable 
communities.

Upzoning does 
not 
automatically 
lead to greater 
equity



Marina/Industrial Area: tract 4220
• 27.3% increase in white residents
• 13.3% decrease in Black residents
• 104.4% increase in median income

Northern Residential Area: tract 4221
• 19.9% decrease in Latinx residents
• 15.4% decrease in poverty

Source: American Community Survey, 2019 5-yr estimate

Findings 
indicate 
patterns of 
displacement 
in West 
Berkeley



West Berkeley experienced dramatic increases in rent and in the population 
of white residents

Source: American Community Survey, 2019 5-yr estimate



POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS



Protect vulnerable areas – especially South Berkeley, West Berkeley – by
directing future upzonings considered as a part of the city’s Housing Element Update 
to North and Southeast Berkeley, areas of ‘minimal’ or ‘low’ concern for 
displacement.

Consider a special district overlay to preserve and develop affordable
housing in vulnerable areas.

Mandate a racial impact study ahead of all rezonings.

One-to-one replacements of protected units in cases of demolition, passing
legislation to ensure the safety and habitability of housing during construction, and 
adopting a ‘right to return’ policy. Prioritize the production of rental units over 
condominiums, and addition to and subdivision of existing structures over demolition.

Anti-
displacement 
measures



Tenant 
protections & 
affordable 
housing 
production

Increase protections + resources for low-income tenants such as
rent relief for tenants struggling to pay rent and protection from ‘source of income’ 
discrimination.

Adopt Anti-Speculation Measures by encouraging community ownership of
land through land trusts, housing cooperatives, and tenants’ opportunity to purchase 
the homes they live in. Disincentivize speculation by imposing transfer and vacancy 
taxes and enforcing laws regulating short-term rentals.

Increase the Production of Affordable Housing by adjusting the city’s
affordable housing mitigation fee periodically to accurately calculate land value capture 
on new developments and to incentivize the production of affordable units.



THANK YOU & QUESTIONS



Densifying Berkeley: Potential Impacts on 
Displacement and Equity
A Report by the Anti-Eviction Mapping Project

Executive Summary 

The Bay Area, like the rest of California, has a severe affordable housing shortage. The affordable 
housing crisis is often attributed to the prevalence of single-family zoning, an exclusionary policy 
rooted in a long history of racial segregation. Berkeley’s move to end exclusionary zoning was touted 
as a racial equity measure that would increase the access of vulnerable populations to affordable and 
stable housing. The city is considering ways to upzone Berkeley as a part of its Housing Element 
Update to create missing middle housing, which is perceived to be more affordable than single-family 
homes. In this report, the Anti-Eviction Mapping Project (AEMP) asks whether upzoning can be 
deployed to equitably distribute housing to people who need it most without simultaneously 
increasing the risk of displacement in those communities. AEMP concludes that the city cannot rely 
solely on housing production, even when coupled with inclusionary policies such as requiring a 
certain number of below market rate apartments, to desegregate and provide much-needed housing 
to low-income communities. Strengthening tenant protections, disincentivizing speculation, and 
other anti-displacement measures must be key components of any efforts to densify the city.  

The outcomes of upzoning depend on the particular nuances of upzoning policies as well as the 
unique contexts in which they are implemented. In this study, we couple the research and debates on 
upzoning in the state and beyond with a rigorous analysis of the impact of development on Berkeley 
communities as well as a model for projecting their risk to future displacement caused by zoning 
reform. We analyze data from the American Community Survey (ACS), Integrated Public Use 
Microdata Series (IPUMS), Alameda County Assessor’s Office, and the Berkeley Rent Stabilization 
Board and City of Berkeley to understand the particular housing needs of Berkeley’s communities and 
project their vulnerability to displacement. We also examine the impact of past development and 
zoning changes in three key Berkeley neighborhoods: Downtown Berkeley, the area immediately 
south of the UC Berkeley campus, and West Berkeley. Our recommendations look at how Berkeley 
can use zoning reform in combination with its strong tenant protections to distribute the benefits of 
upzoning more equitably, and to mitigate the risks of displacement and impacts of racial exclusion. 

Key Findings: 
• Upzoning can lead to speculation, increased land values, and displacement. By the same token,

upzoning has not led to greater racial integration and opportunities for vulnerable communities.



Upzoning alone is unlikely to make housing affordable to those most in need in Berkeley and make 
Berkeley’s housing market more equitable. 

• Because filtering - does not appear to be creating significant numbers of units affordable to low-
income residents, it is unlikely that the production of additional market-rate units will substantially
increase the amount of housing available to those most in need.

• The private market is unable to produce sufficient levels of affordable housing even with subsidies and
other incentives.

• Our model shows that the production of affordable housing lowers the risk of displacement, while the
impact of market-rate housing is not statistically significant.

• The greatest deficit in Berkeley’s housing supply lies at Low Income (50-80% AMI) and Very Low
Income (<30-50% AMI or below) levels. These households are forced to occupy housing at much higher
income levels.

• Current West Berkeley and South Berkeley residents are the most vulnerable to displacement by
zoning changes; North Berkeley and Southeast Berkeley residents have minimal or low risk.

Key Recommendations: 
• Protect Vulnerable Areas – South Berkeley, West Berkeley – from the impacts of upzoning by

directing future upzonings considered as a part of the city’s Housing Element Update to North
and Southeast Berkeley, areas of ‘minimal’ or ‘low’ concern for displacement. Consider a
special district overlay to preserve and develop affordable housing in vulnerable areas.

• Mandate a Racial Impact Study ahead of all rezonings.
• Adopt additional Anti-Displacement Measures by mandating one-to-one replacements of

protected units in cases of demolition, passing legislation to ensure the safety and habitability
of housing during construction, and adopting a ‘right to return’ policy. Prioritize the
production of rental units over condominiums, and addition to and subdivision of existing
structures over demolition.

• Increase protections and resources for low-income tenants, such as rent relief for tenants
struggling to pay rent and protection from ‘source of income’ discrimination.

• Adopt Anti-Speculation Measures by encouraging community ownership of land through land
trusts, housing cooperatives, and tenants’ opportunity to purchase the homes they live in.
Disincentivize speculation by imposing transfer and vacancy taxes and enforcing laws
regulating short-term rentals.

• Increase the Production of Affordable Housing by adjusting the city’s affordable housing
mitigation fee periodically to accurately calculate land value capture on new developments
and to incentivize the production of affordable units. The City should incentivize the
production of affordable units through Costa-Hawkins 1954.52B by creating a process for
homeowners and developers to regulate rent increases in exchange for waivers and bonuses.
Berkeley should consider lowering the threshold for the AHMF to include all new residential
development.

• Expand the Berkeley Rent Registry to capture rental costs for units partially covered by the
Stabilization Ordinance to better track patterns of speculation and tenant turnover and to
inform Berkeley’s housing policies.



Rent Stabilization Board

2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT)  TDD: (510) 981-6903  FAX: (510) 981-4940 
EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info   WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent 

RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 
Regular Meeting 

Thursday, February 17, 2022 
7:00 p.m. 

PUBLIC ADVISORY: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE  
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e)(3), City Council Resolution 70,030-N.S., and City of 
Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board (Rent Board) Resolution 21-29, this meeting of the Rent Board will be 
conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference. Please be advised that pursuant to 
the Resolutions and the findings contained therein that the spread of COVID-19 continues to be a threat to the 
public health and that holding meetings of City legislative bodies in person would present imminent risks to 
the health and safety of the public and members of legislative bodies. Therefore, there will not be a physical 
meeting location available. 

To access this meeting remotely: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device by clicking on this 
URL: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83737919904?pwd=TlNmeTVrc0gvRFJ5ay9KQ1ZrVlg3Zz09. If you do not 
wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop-down menu and click on "Rename" to rename 
yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “Raise hand” icon by rolling over the bottom of the 
screen. 

To join by phone: Dial 1-408-638-0968 and enter Meeting ID: 837 3791 9904 and Passcode: 919836. If you 
wish to comment during the Public Comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the 
Chair. 

To submit an e-mail comment, email amueller@cityofberkeley.info with the Subject line in this format: 
“RENT BOARD MEETING PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM.” Please observe a 150-word limit. Written 
comments will be entered into the public record.  Email comments must be submitted to the email address 
above by 5:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting in order to be included.  

Please be mindful that this meeting will be recorded, and all other rules of procedure and decorum will apply 
for Rent Board meetings conducted by teleconference or videoconference. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with Government Code Section 54953, 54956, and all current 
state and local requirements allowing public participation in meetings of legislative bodies. Any member of 
the public may attend this meeting. Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to DéSeana Williams, 
Executive Director, at (510) 981-7368. The Rent Board may take action related to any subject listed on the 
Agenda.

Item 6.a.

mailto:rent@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/rent
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83737919904?pwd=TlNmeTVrc0gvRFJ5ay9KQ1ZrVlg3Zz09
mailto:amueller@cityofberkeley.info


 

2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT)  TDD: (510) 981-6903  FAX: (510) 981-4940 
EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info   WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent 

RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 
Regular Meeting 

Thursday, February 17, 2022 
7:00 p.m. 

 
Regular Meeting Minutes - Unapproved 

 

 

 
1. Roll call – Chair Simon-Weisberg called the meeting to order at 7:06 p.m. 

Aimee Mueller called roll. 
Commissioners present: Alpert, Chang, Johnson, Kelley, Laverde, Mendonca, Selawsky, 
Walker, Simon-Weisberg 
Commissioners absent: None 
Staff present: Brown, Lecky, Mueller, Williams 
 

2. Land Acknowledgment Statement:  The Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board recognizes that 
the rental housing units we regulate are built on the territory of xučyun (Huchiun-(Hooch-
yoon)), the ancestral and unceded land of the Chochenyo (Cho-chen-yo)-speaking Ohlone 
(Oh-low-nee) people, the ancestors and descendants of the sovereign Verona Band of Alameda 
County. This land was and continues to be of great importance to all of the Ohlone Tribes and 
descendants of the Verona Band. As we begin our meeting tonight, we acknowledge and honor 
the original inhabitants of Berkeley, the documented 5,000-year history of a vibrant 
community at the West Berkeley Shellmound, and the Ohlone people who continue to reside 
in the East Bay.  We recognize that Berkeley’s landlords and tenants have and continue to 
benefit from the use and occupation of this unceded stolen land since the City of Berkeley’s 
incorporation in 1878 and since the Rent Stabilization Board’s creation in 1980. As stewards 
of the laws regulating rental housing, it is not only vital that we recognize the history of this 
land, but also recognize that the Ohlone people are present members of Berkeley and other 
East Bay communities today. 
 
The Land Acknowledgement statement was read aloud. 
 

3. Approval of Agenda – M/S/C (Alpert/Johnson) APPROVE THE AGENDA WITH THE 
FOLLOWING CHANGES: MOVE ITEM 8.b. TO CONSENT.  Roll call vote.  YES: Alpert, 
Chang, Johnson, Kelley, Laverde, Mendonca, Selawsky, Walker, Simon-Weisberg; NO: None; 
ABSTAIN: None; ABSENT: None.  Carried: 9-0-0-0.   
 

4. Public Comment – Non-agendized items.  There were two speakers:  Carole Marasovic spoke 
about the eviction moratorium and the Source of Income Discrimination Ordinance.  Krista 
Gulbransen spoke about the new notification paperwork for the Fair Chance Ordinance.   
 

5. SPECIAL PRESENTATION:  “What Does Housing Have To Do With Race?” by 
Wilhelmenia Wilson, Executive Director, Healthy Black Families, Inc. – Ms. Wilson 

mailto:rent@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/rent


February 17, 2022 Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board Meeting minutes 
Page 3 
 

presented to the Board.   
 

6. CONSENT ITEMS 
 
Item 8.b. was moved to consent by a prior vote of the Board.   
 

a. Approval of January 20, 2022 regular meeting minutes 
 
M/S/C (Johnson/Chang) APPROVE ITEMS 6.a. AND 8.b. AS WRITTEN.  Roll call 
vote.  YES: Alpert, Chang, Johnson, Kelley, Laverde, Mendonca, Selawsky, Walker, 
Simon-Weisberg; NO: None; ABSTAIN: None; ABSENT: None.  Carried: 9-0-0-0. 
 

7. Public Comment – Items on the agenda.  There were no speakers. 
 

8. ACTION ITEMS 
from Board Members, Committees, Executive Director or Staff 
 
Item 8.b. was moved to Consent by a prior vote of the Board. 
 

a. Special Presentation on state housing legislation by Brian Augusta & Associates, 
Legislative Advocates – Mr. Augusta presented to and took questions from the Board. 
 

(1) Discussion and possible action regarding the Board taking a position on state 
housing legislation (Chair Simon-Weisberg) – NO ACTION TAKEN. 
 

b. Proposal to approve staff recommendations on the following requests for waivers of 
late registration penalties (Executive Director/Registration Unit staff) 
 
Ministerial Waivers 
Waiver No. Property Address 

N/A  1433 Walnut St. 
N/A  2610 College Ave. 
N/A  1611 Scenic Ave. 
N/A  2404 Cedar St. 
N/A  1235 Talbot Ave. 
 
Discretionary Waivers 
Waiver No. Property Address 

5019  1931 Fairview St. 
5020  2235 Rose St. 
 
MOVED TO CONSENT BY A PRIOR VOTE OF THE BOARD. 
 

9. APPEAL – 8:00 p.m.** 
**This appeal will not be heard before 8:00 p.m. but may be heard any time thereafter. 
 
Case No. T-5924 (2226 Durant Avenue, #104) 



February 17, 2022 Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board Meeting minutes 
Page 4 
 

 
Tenant appeals a hearing decision ordering the landlord to refund a total of $1,551.50 to tenant 
for security deposit return.  On appeal, the tenant argues that the landlord has repeatedly lied 
and misrepresented the extent to which he made repairs in the subject unit and that the 
apartment was uninhabitable for the entirety of his very brief tenancy.  He further claims that 
the hearing examiner did not give enough weight to his evidence and too much to the 
landlord’s given the landlord’s alleged deceit.  He does not state explicitly in his appeal what 
remedy he seeks, but it can be presumed that he is requesting that the entirety of what he paid 
to the landlord ($3,625) be returned to him.  A review of the record and analysis of relevant 
board precedent and case law, however, establishes that the hearing examiner correctly ruled 
on the issue of return of the security deposit.  For this reason, legal staff recommends that the 
Board affirm the hearing examiner’s decision. 
 
M/S/C (Alpert/Laverde) MOTION TO UPHOLD THE HEARING EXAMINER’S 
DECISION.  Roll call vote.  YES: Alpert, Johnson, Kelley, Laverde, Mendonca, Selawsky, 
Walker, Simon-Weisberg; NO: None; ABSTAIN: Chang; ABSENT: None.   
Carried: 8-0-1-0. 
 

10. INFORMATION, ANNOUNCEMENTS AND ARTICLES/MEDIA 
from Board Members, Committees, Executive Director or Staff 
 
ALL ITEMS BELOW WERE BRIEFLY MENTIONED OR DISCUSSED.  
UNDERLINED ITEMS HAVE ADDITIONAL COMMENTS.   
 

a. Update on restoring Commissioners’ access to their Rent Board email accounts – 
Verbal  (Chair Simon-Weisberg/Board Secretary) 
 

b. Update on the City’s Website Reinvention Project timeline and the Rent Board’s 
content migration – Verbal  (Executive Director/Board Secretary) 
  

c. Monument to Extraction.org article by Kimberly Pack and Roalla Toy titled, 
“Codornices Village – Segregation and integration in World War II worker housing” 
(Chair Simon-Weisberg) 
 https://monumenttoextraction.org/stories/worldwar2-housing/ 
 

d. Date to submit agenda topics/items for the March 17th Rent Board meeting: Monday, 
March 7th at 5:00 p.m.  NOTE: This is a hard deadline and will be enforced going 
forward. 
 

11. COMMITTEE/BOARD MEETING UPDATES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

a. Budget and Personnel Committee (Commissioner Selawsky, Chair) – Commissioner 
Chang was elected Committee chair at the last meeting.  He asked that commissioners 
send him any items they would like to have considered in the budget process. 
Next regularly-scheduled meeting:  Tuesday, February 15th at 5:30 p.m. 
 
February 15th agenda 
 

https://monumenttoextraction.org/stories/worldwar2-housing/


February 17, 2022 Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board Meeting minutes 
Page 5 
 

b. Eviction/Section 8/Foreclosure Committee (Commissioner Mendonca, Chair) 
Next regularly-scheduled meeting:  TBA 
 

c. Legislation, IRA/AGA & Registration Committee (LIRA Committee) (Commissioner 
Kelley, Chair) – Committee Chair Kelley mentioned that the Committee discussed the 
keyless entry issue and will refer it to the 4 x 4 Committee. 
Next regularly-scheduled meeting:  Wednesday, March 9th at 5:00 p.m. 
 
February 9th agenda 
 

d. Outreach Committee (Commissioner Laverde, Chair) – Committee Chair Laverde 
reported that the tenant survey RFP was submitted. 
Next regularly-scheduled meeting:  Wednesday, February 16th at 5:00 p.m. 
 
February 16th agenda 
 

e. 2 x 2 Committee on Housing: Rent Board/Berkeley Unified School District (Chair 
TBA) 
Regularly-scheduled meeting date:  TBA 
 

f. 4 x 4 Joint Committee on Housing: City Council/Rent Board  
(Mayor Arreguín and Chair Simon-Weisberg, Committee Co-Chairs) 
Next regularly-scheduled meeting:  Wednesday, February 23rd at 3:00 p.m. 
 

g. Ad Hoc Committee on Rent Board Technology Issues (Commissioner Selawsky, 
Chair) – The Board Secretary reported that the Committee is waiting for pricing 
information in order to draft a recommendation for the full Board.   
Next meeting date:  TBA 
 
January 24th agenda 
 

h. Updates and Announcements 
 

i. Discussion of items for possible placement on future agenda 
 

(1) Review of protocol and template for submittal of agenda items 
  

12. ADJOURNMENT – M/S/C (Johnson/Laverde) MOTION TO ADJOURN.  Roll call vote.  
YES: Alpert, Chang, Johnson, Kelley, Laverde, Mendonca, Selawsky, Walker, Simon-
Weisberg; NO: None; ABSTAIN: None; ABSENT: None.  Carried: 9-0-0-0. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 9:28 p.m.   
 

 



Rent Stabilization Board 
Office of the Executive Director 

2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT)  TDD: (510) 981-6903  FAX: (510) 981-4940 
EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info   WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent 

DATE: March 17, 2022 

TO: Honorable Members of the Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board 

FROM: Honorable Members of the Budget & Personnel Committee 
By: DéSeana Williams, Executive Director 

Lief Bursell, Senior Planner 

SUBJECT: Mid-Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Budget Report 

Recommendation 

That the Board review the mid-fiscal year budget report and adopt Resolution 22-03 to 
adjust the agency’s staffing model by converting the vacant Deputy Director position to a 
new Policy Director position, which will serve as the lead staff person for the Board’s 
policy projects and initiatives. 

Background 

On June 17, 2021, the Board adopted a staffing model and budget with a maximum expenditure 
authorization for Fiscal Year (FY) 2021/22. Prior to adopting the budget, the Board voted to 
keep the annual registration fee for fully-covered units at $250 per unit and to set the Measure 
MM unit fee at $150 per unit1. Due to the ongoing impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the 
rental market, the Board chose to maintain the fully-covered unit fee at $250 per unit, which has 
remained at that level since FY 2018/19 and to utilize its uncommitted reserve to pay for any 
expenses that were not covered by FY 2021/22 revenue. The Board also set a lower Measure 
MM registration fee of $37 per unit for 100% affordable housing projects that are managed by a 
non-profit and are within the regulatory period established by a regulatory agreement with the 
City of Berkeley through its Housing Trust Fund program. 

The Board’s adopted budget anticipated spending down the uncommitted reserve by around 
$550,000 this fiscal year.  The Board has maintained a larger than expected uncommitted reserve 
balance over the past several fiscal years primarily due to staff turnover and unexpected 
vacancies in several previously-budgeted positions. This reserve has given the Board the 

1 The Measure MM fee included a base fee of $100 per unit to cover the FY 2021/22 costs, and 
an additional $50 fee to recover FY 2020/21 implementation costs. Similarly, the $37 per unit 
affordable housing project fee includes a $25 base fee and an additional $12 to recover FY 
2020/21 costs. 

Item 8.a.

mailto:rent@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/rent


Mid-Year Budget Report 
March 17, 2022 
Page 2 

 
 

flexibility to avoid fee increases while still funding important projects such as the upcoming 
tenant survey and the Anti-Eviction Mapping Project’s (AEMP) upzoning impact analysis.  
The Board’s established reserve policy is to maintain an uncommitted reserve that covers all 
expenditures for between one and two months or 8%-16% of recurring expenditures. Although 
the Board has previously chosen to go below this 8% reserve level to limit the extent of fee 
increases, it has maintained a two-month or 16% reserve in recent years.  The year’s adopted 
budget anticipated ending this fiscal year with approximately $332,000 in its uncommitted 
reserve, which is approximately 6% of recurring expenditures. The Board determined that 
decreasing the reserve below its minimum 8% level was an acceptable trade-off to avoid 
increasing the fully-covered fee that applies to between 19,000 and 20,000 units at a time when 
the economy and rental housing market are still impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and both 
local and statewide eviction moratoriums. 
 
The Board also voted to incorporate a formal mid-fiscal year budget review as a permanent part 
of the Board’s annual budget process. The Board utilized a mid-fiscal year budget review 
process for the first time last fiscal year and it successfully allowed the Board to pivot to respond 
to the passage of Measure MM and hire an additional Housing Counselor position. This 
additional counseling position has helped to respond to inquiries related to the Measure MM 
implementation, as well as the increased services the agency is providing to Measure MM units. 
 
FY 2020/21 Year-End Fund Balance 
 
The staff has reviewed the final reports from the Finance Department on the Board’s FY 2020/21 
revenues and expenditures. The Board’s year-end FY 2020/21 revenue was $4,998,516 and total 
expenditures were $5,059,050.  $52,083 in expenditures owed for services provided in FY 
2020/21 was carried over to FY 2021/22 – this is not surprising as the last invoices of the year 
for work completed in June are often not submitted in time to process payment until July or 
August and, therefore, these expenditures must be accounted for in the following fiscal year.  For 
this reason, the Board’s year-end fund balance is higher on a cash basis than an accrual basis, 
which accounts for expenses that were incurred even if they are yet paid for. 
 
The Board’s total FY 2020/21 year-end fund balance was $1,435,979 (on an accrual basis). The 
Board’s capital reserve ended the year at $495,500, which left its uncommitted reserve at 
$940,479.  This is 16.7% of projected recurring expenditures. Please note that these numbers are 
still preliminary because they have not yet been audited. The City of Berkeley contracts with an 
outside auditor to review its financial statements, and an audit of the Board’s FY 2020/21 
financial statements should be ready to review sometime in March or April of 2022. 
 
As discussed in the FY 2021/22 budget recommendation, the outside auditor’s report will show 
that the Rent Board’s FY 2020/21 revenue is $328,327 lower than the numbers that were 
provided to the Board and are being discussed here. This is due to a malfunction in the agency’s 
online payment system that resulted in $328,327 in FY 2020/21 revenue being deposited as FY 
2019/20 revenue. For budgetary purposes, it is more accurate to count this revenue in FY 
2020/21, even though it is accounted for elsewhere in the Board’s audited financial statements.  
  



Mid-Year Budget Report 
March 17, 2022 
Page 3 

Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Revenue Collection 

The Board’s adopted budget anticipated the agency collecting $5,515,850 in revenue for the 
current fiscal year. As of December 31, 2021, the agency has collected $5,434,941, well on pace 
to reach or exceed the amount. At the mid-fiscal year point, 298 delinquent fully-covered unit 
accounts owed a total of $176,000 in current year fees.  Overall, collection for fully-covered 
units is slightly lower than last year as the number of delinquent accounts is higher and owes 
about $75,000 more than at the midpoint of last year. 

When the Board adopted its FY 2021/22 budget, the main area of uncertainty was the rate of 
compliance and the overall total number of Measure MM units that would register during the 
initial registration year for Measure MM units.  The Board chose a conservative estimate of 50% 
compliance rate for the initial year and the adopted budget only anticipated $300,000 ($350,000 
including late registration penalties) in revenue. Actual Measure MM revenue at mid-year is 
$616,724, with a total of 4,570 units registering, including 598 units paying the lower $37 per 
unit, affordable housing fee.  As of the mid-year, 270 outstanding Measure MM accounts owe 
just over $125,000 in current year registration fees. Recently, staff sent out a second round of 
penalty bills to both Measure MM and fully-covered properties.2  Overall there are 
approximately $300,000 in unpaid registration fees3 and the number of delinquent accounts is 
higher than normal, which is not unexpected given the COVID-19 impacts and the addition of 
the new Measure MM registration requirements. 

At the request of the Budget & Personnel Committee, the attached mid-fiscal year budget update 
spreadsheet identifies in separate rows what revenue comes from Measure MM registration fees 
and what revenue comes from fully-covered unit registration fees. 

Administration of the Fair Chance Ordinance 

On December 14, 2020, the Board agreed in principle to administer the recently-passed Ronald 
V. Dellums Fair Chance Access to Housing Ordinance (B.M.C. Chapter 13.106) on behalf of
the City after receiving a letter from Mayor Arreguín requesting that the agency do so “subject to
the negotiation of an agreement between the City administration and the Board regarding the
specific roles and responsibilities in ordinance implementation”.

Staff submitted a proposed budget that estimated $10,350 in startup costs and $105,500 in 
ongoing personal costs to administer the Ordinance. As part of their FY 2021/22 adopted budget, 
the City Council agreed to transfer $115,850 in funds from the City of Berkeley general fund and 
that the Board staff would bill them only the actual costs to run the program. 

2 The Board adopted Resolution 21-19 on July 15, 2022, which created an amnesty period to allow property owners 
the opportunity to pay the Board’s Registration Fee for FY 2020/2021 without penalty. Resolution 21-19 gives a 90-
day amnesty to owners of fully-covered units if they were financially impacted by COVID-19; and a 120-day 
amnesty for Measure MM units without consideration of COVID-19 financial hardship. 

3 There are also nearly one million dollars in penalty fees still outstanding between fully-covered and partially 
covered units. 



Mid-Year Budget Report 
March 17, 2022 
Page 4 

The agency has set up Fair Chance Ordinance and is now actively administering it, but other than 
some limited counseling on the Ordinance, the administration has taken far fewer resources than 
initially anticipated. As of December 31, 2021, the agency has not yet billed the City’s general 
fund related to the Fair Chance Ordinance and does not anticipate billing for a significant amount 
unless there are active cases that arise and require full evidentiary hearings. Year-end 2021/22 
revenue projections have been reduced by $100,000 to reflect the anticipated reduction in 
compensation for administering the Fair Chance Ordinance. 

Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Mid-Year Expenditures & Updated Projections 

As of December 31, 2021, the Board has expended a total of $2,312,414.  Actual mid-year 
expenditures are significantly less than what was anticipated in the Board’s adopted budget due 
to salary savings and because the bulk of capital expenditures, mostly for the 3Di Rent Tracking 
System (RTS) replacement, will take place in the 3rd and 4th quarter. Salary expenditures were 
down in the 1st half of the year due to the turnover of five positions and the vacant Deputy 
Director position. Staff now project that total FY 2021/22 expenditures will be around $550,000 
less than what the Board authorized in the adopted budget.  

A preliminary mid-year budget update is attached to this report and provides details on actual 
expenditures by budget line-item. The staff has also updated the projected year-end projections 
with updated projections on personnel expenditures, accounted for any changes or additions to 
the Board’s contracts with outside vendors, and reduced spending from the Board’s capital 
reserve.  

As discussed earlier in this report, the actual year-end numbers for FY 2020/21 are not yet final 
and are pending final review by the City of Berkeley’s contracted outside auditor.  

Current Agency Priorities 

The Rent Board’s adopted FY 2022 Budget continues to prioritize the Rent Board’s five core 
services4 or areas of work, which are: 

• Outreach
• Counseling
• Petitions & Mediations
• Registration of controlled rental units
• Policy, administrative, and legal support

In addition to the agency’s ongoing “core” work, the Board’s adopted budget included the 
following priority projects and initiatives (current status in parenthesis): 

4 More detail on the Board’s core services can be found in the June 18, 2020 report recommending adoption of the 
FY 2020/21 Line-Item Budget and June 20, 2019 report on Rent Stabilization and Good Cause for Eviction in the 
21st Century.  



Mid-Year Budget Report 
March 17, 2022 
Page 5 

• Complete the initial registration of Measure MM units. (Mostly complete)
• Provide increased service to Measure MM units. (Ongoing – there have been 9 mediation

requests and just under 200 counseling cases involving Measure MM units)
• Prepare and execute a phased office reopening and begin to provide more in-person

services to clients. (In progress)
• Provide outreach and assistance to tenants and landlords on laws and requirements for

evictions as state and local eviction moratoriums come to an end. (In progress)
• Fully transition from the agency’s existing RTS Database to the agency’s new integrated

software platform being developed by 3Di. (In progress)
• Recruit, select, hire and train a new permanent Executive Director. (Complete)
• Create and hire a new General Counsel position that reports directly to the Board.

(Complete)
• Implement and administrate the City’s Fair Chance Housing Ordinance. (Complete)
• Complete a survey of tenants and begin scoping a study/survey of property owners. (In

progress)
• Use the 2nd and 4th Wednesdays to work on agency-wide improvement areas identified

in the executive transition survey. (Ongoing)
• Continue work to improve the Demolition Ordinance to reach the appropriate balance of

allowing new construction, while protecting sitting tenants and mitigating the overall loss
of housing affordability. (In progress)

• Work with the City of Berkeley to revamp and improve the Relocation Ordinance. (In
progress)

• Monitor development projects including the creation of new ADUs that impact the
tenancies or services to existing tenants. (Ongoing)

• Continue to monitor Short-Term Rental Ordinance compliance to prevent the loss of
long-term rentals. (Ongoing)

• Continue studying and memorializing the impacts of Costa-Hawkins on Berkeley and
other cities in the state. (Ongoing)

• Implement a two-phase project to recreate all Rent Board web content (including PDFs)
and transfer to the new website CMS, and expand integration with the City’s public
records
portal. Implementing and administratively improving the launch of the 3Di platform to
effectively capture and report Measure MM unit registration. (In progress)

• Developing the 3Di platform to replace the existing Rent Tracking System (RTS) and
case management system. (In progress)

• Implement redesign of a new agency website. (Nearly complete, new website scheduled
to launch in March of 2022)

• Providing input to the Planning Department and HHCS Department on planned revisions
to Berkeley’s Demolition Ordinance and Relocation Ordinance. (In progress)

• Continue working with local and regional groups to develop a coordinated and effective
response to the housing crisis. (Ongoing)



Mid-Year Budget Report 
March 17, 2022 
Page 6 

• Work with the City of Berkeley IT Department to enhance agency cyber security.
(Ongoing)

The following projects have been identified by Staff, with the Board and its other committees as 
priorities, but implementation work has not yet begun: 

• Select a vendor to complete the scanning of all property files and other agency files.
• Provide enhanced training for staff and Board members
• Recruit, select, hire and train a new permanent Executive Director.
• Providing input to the 4x4 Committee and City Council on implementation of the Fair

Chance and “TOPA” Ordinance.
• Working with City Council to assist with the adoption of the Tenant Opportunity to

Purchase Act (TOPA).

As the agency continues with the launch and implementation of its two priority projects, the 
Measure MM implementation and the RTS and case management replacement project, these are 
large, time-intensive projects that impact staff in all the work units.  Additionally, the 
administratively heavy involvement of staff in the City of Berkeley’s website overhaul has 
further stretched staff resources.  These larger, agency-wide projects are particularly 
administratively intense and often take up all extra staff capacity for any other initiatives or 
projects beyond the provision of the agency’s five core services.  This is particularly true at this 
moment when staff is continuing to work on the data migration and transition of RTS and case 
management, as well as the launch of the registration for fully-covered units in 3Di.  

The launch and data migration phase of the 3Di system transition is ongoing and should extend 
well into the next fiscal year, particularly for the non-registration-related features such as Case 
Management, and the modules used for the processing of both evictions and petitions. Staff 
should have increased capacity to take on an additional project, such as the scanning of property 
files after the full data migration and complete module launch have been completed.  

It is important to note that the initiatives/projects listed above do not impact all work units 
equally. For example, the increased volume of client contacts directly related to Measure MM 
and the data migration with 3Di has impacted mainly the Registration Unit and the Public 
Information Unit. The city of Berkeley’s website overhaul project has deeply impacted the 
Administrative and Planning Unit.  The resources a proposed initiative requires, and the agency’s 
current workload and capacity to respond, are important factors when considering any changes to 
the existing staffing model.   

Current Staffing Model 

The agency’s current staffing model has 25.0 Full-time Equivalent (FTE) career positions. Thus 
far in FY 2022, the agency has successfully recruited and hired a permanent Executive Director, 



Mid-Year Budget Report 
March 17, 2022 
Page 7 

as well as added and hired for the new General Counsel position.  Additionally, the former 
temporary position of Associate Planner has been made permanent and the staff person who 
filled the temporary position has been appointed to the permanent position. 

After the recent hiring of a new PIU Manager, there are currently three (3) vacant positions 
within the agency. All vacancies are indicated in the adopted organizational chart attached to this 
report. Two of our permanent staff members are also on temporary leave but are expected to 
return sometime within the next six months. 

Filling Vacancies 

The three current vacancies are the Deputy Director position, a Senior Management Analyst that 
serves as the Registration Unit manager, and a Staff Attorney II position. Staff estimate that a 
new Registration Unit manager will be hired as soon as April, and the Staff Attorney II position 
will be filled sometime within the 2nd Quarter of 2022.  

The FY 2021 mid-fiscal year report stated that the agency has adapted to operating without a 
Deputy Director has not had an active staff person in that role for several years. After reviewing 
the agency’s needs and the Board’s desire for a senior staff person to work on housing policy 
issues, staff recommends the Board remove the Deputy Director position from the staffing model 
and create and hire a new Policy Director position. 

Part of the justification for creating the Deputy Director position was to hire and train a successor 
to the agency’s previous Executive Director. Now that a new Executive Director is in place, 
succession planning is no longer a priority.  The only benefit to having a Deputy Director is that 
this position serves as the backup to the Executive Director in case of emergency, vacation, or 
extended absence. Now that the agency’s new General Counsel position has been filled by its 
former Acting Executive Director, there is an experienced senior staff person that reports directly 
to the Board and can back up the Executive Director when necessary.   

The Board’s adopted budget states that the Board is interested in pursuing a candidate to increase 
capacity to provide direction regarding several policy initiatives the Board is interested in 
adopting.  Most of the policy issues the Board has raised recently are in the areas of housing and 
land use planning.  A Deputy Director is an operations-focused position, and these policy areas 
require a staff person with a background and education in those areas. The proposed Policy 
Director would be created with the specific policy areas the Board is focusing on in mind. 

The conversion of the vacant Deputy Director position is the only change staff is proposing to 
the staffing model at present, but there are several additional changes that staff recommends the 
Board consider implementing in FY 2022/23. 



Mid-Year Budget Report 
March 17, 2022 
Page 8 

Future Staffing Model Changes 

Given the imperative to increase capacity to further broaden how we provide service both 
internally and externally, there is a need to separate internal functions within certain units and 
introduce more focused functions in others. To achieve this, the staff is recommending the Board 
consider the creation of a total of three new positions in the next fiscal year. These positions are 
a Finance Manager, Senior Housing Counselor, and a Digital Education and Social Media 
Coordinator. 

Finance Manager 
Currently, payroll, finance, and budgetary functions are splintered between several work units. 
The Finance Manager would take over supervision of these tasks. In addition, the Finance 
Manager will be the first step to creating a finance unit that will also be responsible for 
contracting and purchasing activities. The Rent Board’s current staffing model and 
organizational structure have limited capacity to handle these functions efficiently. An 
independent and financially-focused unit will allow for increased resources in other units that are 
currently handling these functions, offer more streamlined processes, and provide a centralized 
unit to be accountable for these functions which will further stabilize the organization and benefit 
overall productivity.  

Senior Housing Counselor 
There is a need to create a higher-level counselor position in the Public Information Unit (PIU).  
PIU staff are essential for the provision of core Rent Board services including education, 
counseling, and conducting community outreach. The PIU housing counselors must possess a 
niche, in-depth knowledge, and understanding of the Ordinance, state and local laws, and the 
intersections of multiple community agencies and resources related to rental housing. A Senior 
Housing Counselor would provide an additional and necessary layer to the unit where 
responsibility will be dedicated to highly specialized cases, research, and special projects. 
Moreover, adding this layer will allow the current housing counselors to continue to improve 
response times and increase regular counseling availability to consistently provide nuanced and 
detailed assistance with our clients’ unique housing situations.     

Digital Education and Social Media Coordinator 
For years, the Board has expressed an interest in increasing the agency’s social media presence 
and adapting our outreach program to include popular applications such as Twitter and LinkedIn. 
Additionally, as the Rent Board aligns with the City of Berkeley’s new website platform, there 
will be an increased need to centralize the management of our print, web, and digital outreach to 
ensure clear, consistent, and accurate messaging. The Digital Education and Social Media 
Coordinator will also take on the responsibility to increase our digital education presence that 



Mid-Year Budget Report 
March 17, 2022 
Page 9 

will update the community more broadly on important affordable housing matters, legislation, 
and resources that not only inform but benefit those we serve. 

Budget & Personnel Committee Recommendation 

Having reviewed a similar report and hearing staff’s presentation, on March 8, 2022, the Budget 
& Personnel Committee unanimously recommended that the full Board authorize a staffing 
model adjustment to convert the vacant Deputy Director position to a new Policy Director 
position.  If the Board adopts this change, staff will take the appropriate steps to work with the 
Human Resource Department to create and then advertise for the position. 

The Budget & Personnel Committee will continue to discuss the other positions mentioned in 
this report at future meetings before bringing any additional recommendations to the Board. 

Next Steps 

After reviewing the mid-fiscal year budget report and making changes to the current staffing 
model, the Board also needs to provide input on additional programs or initiatives they would 
like considered for inclusion in the FY 2022/23 budget.  Starting at their March 29, 2022 
meeting, the Budget & Personnel Committee will review the initial budget projections for the 
next fiscal year and then begin working on a recommendation for the setting of the FY 2022/23 
registration fee. The Board should anticipate considering the registration fee recommendation at 
either its regular meeting on April 21, 2022 or at a special meeting during the first week of May. 
If there are no new major increases proposed to the agency’s expenditures, the Board may be 
able to again avoid any significant increase to next year’s registration fees. 

Conclusion 

Staff has prepared Resolution 22-03, which the Board must adopt to convert the vacant Deputy 
Director Position to a new Policy Manager position. Staff awaits the Board’s direction on the 
Budget & Personnel Committee’s recommendation, as well as its feedback on the other potential 
future changes to the staffing model that are identified in this report. 

Attachments: 

1. Mid-Fiscal Year Budget Update Spreadsheet
2. Adopted Fiscal Year 2021/2022 Staffing Model & Organization Chart
3. Proposed Resolution 22-03 Adjusting Staffing Model to Convert the Vacant Deputy

Director Position to a New Policy Director Position.



Code Description

Adopted 

FY 2021

Actual 

Year-End 

FY 2021

Adopted 

FY 2022

Mid-Year 

FY 2022

Projected 

FY 2022

11-01 Monthly Employees 2,482,000 2,325,298 2,850,000 1,108,336    2,500,000

11-03 Hourly Employees 0 0 0 0 0

13-01 Overtime 5,000 477 2,000 177 1,000

27-20 Benefits 1,620,000 1,550,686 1,800,000 672,318       1,600,000

30-12 Stipends 53,500 51,800 53,500 26,900         53,500

30-23 Misc. Legal Expenses 360,000 225,683 20,000 8,485 65,000

30-36 Temp. Agency Employees 0 801 5,000 11,013         25,000

30-38 Misc. Professional Services 410,000 336,739 410,000 192,636       586,241

30-42 Office Equip. Mtc. Svcs. / Furniture 13,000 6,796 13,000 5,044 13,000

30-43 Bldg. & Structures Mtc. Svc. 400 392 500 202 500

30-51 Bank Credit Card Charges 25,000 7,615 25,000 10,020         25,000

40-10 Professional Dues &  Intern Fees 3,000 2,060 3,000 139 3,000

40-31 Telephones 5,000 7,292 5,000 3,696 5,000

40-50 Printing and Binding 25,000 24,798 35,000 12,180         35,000

40-62 Meals & Lodging 1,000 0 1,000 0 1,000

40-63 Registration Fees/Training 12,000 0 12,000 1,393 12,000

40-61/64 Transportation & Commercial Travel 5,000 12 3,000 51 3,000

40-70 Advertising/public access 30,000 33,720 45,000 23,016         45,000

40-80 Books & Publications 13,000 13,207 13,000 6,571 13,000

50-10 Rental of Land / Buildings 355,000 336,232 375,000 171,468       375,000

51-10 Postage 25,000 26,798 40,000 3,703 30,000

51-20 Messenger / Delivery 500 0 500 0 500

55-11 Office Supplies 15,000 12,346 13,500 5,689 13,500

55-50 Food and Water 2,000 704 1,000 459 1,000

70-43 Office Equipment and Furniture 5,000 0 5,000 0 5,000

70-44 Computers, Printers, Software 10,000 2,767 12,000 606 12,000

75-25 PC Replacement/City Software Licences 50,709 50,709 74,305 37,152         74,305

75-35 Mail Services 3,600 3,600 3,600 1,800 3,600

75-50 City Vehicle / Fuel & Maint. 1,500 1,500 1,500 0 1,500

Expenditure Subtotal** 5,531,209 5,022,031 5,822,405 2,303,054    5,502,646

 Special Projects (RTS Upgrade, online registration, training) 565,000 37,019 453,130 9,360 290,900

Annual Capital Reserve 0 0 0 0 0

Total Authorized Fund Expenditures* 6,096,209 5,059,050 6,275,535 2,312,414 5,793,546

Fully-covered Unit Revenue 5,000,000 4,816,700 4,920,000

Measure MM Revenue 350,000 616,724 650,000

Fair Chance Ord. Administration 115,850 0 0

Misc. (Project review, Settlements, Admin. Fees) 50,000 1,517 3,000

Total Authorized Fund Revenue* 4,850,000 4,998,516 5,515,850 5,434,941 5,573,000

Annual Surplus/Shortfall (1,246,209) (60,534) (759,685) 3,122,527 (220,546)

Previous FY Carryover Expenditures 52,083         52,083

FUND BALANCE (cash basis) 289,938 1,488,035 728,350 3,850,877 1,267,489

FUND BALANCE (accrual basis) 289,938 1,435,979 676,294 3,798,821 1,267,516

TOTAL UNCOMMITTED OPERATIONAL FUND BALANCE 254,938 940,479 399,294 3,763,821 907,316

* Note: this report only reflects charges & revenues against the Rent Board Fund (Fund 440) and 

 does not include services charged to or received from other funds

** Note:  variance in actual expenditures and total fund balance reflects remaininng balance in reimbursment offeset escrow

Rent Stabilization Program

FUND 440

Preliminary FY 2021 Year-End & FY 2022 Mid-Year Budget Update

Attachment 1.



ADMINISTRATIVE & POLICY UNIT
Executive Director

HEARINGS UNIT
Senior Hearing Examiner

(1.0 FTE)

LEGAL UNIT
General Counsel

REGISTRATION AND
PUBLIC INFORMATION UNITS

Vacant Deputy Director (1.0 FTE)

• Office Specialist II
(1.0 FTE)

• Staff Attorney II (1.8 FTE)
0.8 FTE Vacant

• Legal Secretary (0.5 FTE)

• Staff Attorney II Vacant (0.2 FTE)

• Legal Secretary (0.5 FTE)

• Comm. Svc.
Specialist II
(5.0 FTE)

• Office
Specialist II
(1.0 FTE)

• Comm. Svc.
Specialist II (1.0 FTE)

• Accounting Office
Special III (1.0 FTE)

• Office Specialist III
(1.0 FTE)

• Office Specialist II
(2.0 FTE)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
(1.0 FTE)

ELECTED 
RENT STABILIZATION BOARD

BERKELEY VOTERS

Adopted Berkeley Rent Stabilization Program 2021/22 Organization Chart 

Career and Temporary Positions FY 2021/22

Sorted by Division Supervision

Total Career Staff:  25.0 FTE
Total Vacant Positions: 3.0 FTE
Total Temporary Staff: 0.0 FTE

Public Information Unit
Comm. Svc. Specialist III 

(1.0 FTE)

Registration Unit
Sr. Mgmt. Analyst 
Vacant (1.0 FTE)

Admin. Unit
Assoc. Mgmt. Analyst 

(1.0 FTE)

Policy Unit
Senior Planner 

(1.0 FTE)

• Comm. Svc.
Specialist II
(1.0 FTE)

• Associate
Planner
(1.0 FTE )

General Counsel
(1.0 FTE)

Attachment 2.



RESOLUTION 22-03 

ADJUSTING THE FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 STAFFING MODEL POSITION DETAIL TO 
CONVERT THE VACANT DEPUTY DIRECTOR POSITION TO A NEW POLICY DIRECTOR 
POSITION 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Rent Stabilization Board of the City of Berkeley as follows: 

WHEREAS, the Rent Stabilization Board operates based on a fiscal year and each year adopts an 

operational budget after public review and input; and 

WHEREAS, Section 123 of Article XVII of the Charter of the City of Berkeley provides that the 

Rent Stabilization Board shall finance its reasonable expenses by charging landlords annual registration fees 

in amounts deemed reasonable by the Board; and 

WHEREAS, the Budget and Personnel Committee met twelve times in the fiscal year 2020-21 to 

monitor the budget and the Program’s progress meeting the goals established by the Board; and 

 WHEREAS, the Board completed a formal, mid-fiscal year budget review for the first time on 

February 18, 2021, and added a new Housing Counselor position to respond to the increased demand for 

services resulting from the passage of Measure MM; and 

WHEREAS, on May 6, 2021, after reviewing the available reserves and considering the economic 

stress caused by the global COVID-19 pandemic, the Board voted to maintain the annual registration fee for 

full-covered units at $250 per unit and to set the Measure MM fee at $150 per unit; and, 

WHEREAS, on June 1, 2021, the Budget and Personnel Committee and the Acting Executive 

Director met and discussed a line-item operating budget and staffing model for FY 2022 for the Board’s 

review and consideration; and, 

WHEREAS, on June 17, 2021, the Board adopted Resolution 21-13, authorizing the Fiscal Year 

2021-2022 staffing model and maximum expenditure level; and the proposed operating budget (including 

contracts) for FY 2021-2022 authorizes new expenditures totaling $6,275,535, which includes both recurring 

operational and capital needs; and 

Attachment 3.



RESOLUTION 22-03 

ADJUSTING THE FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 STAFFING MODEL POSITION DETAIL TO 
CONVERT THE VACANT DEPUTY DIRECTOR POSITION TO A NEW POLICY DIRECTOR 
POSITION (Page 2) 

WHEREAS, with the adoption of Resolution 21-13, the Board also added a formal, mid-fiscal year 

review as a permanent part of its budget process going forward, to assess revenues, reserves, and the need for 

staffing model and/or programmatic changes; and  

WHEREAS, after performing the mid-fiscal year budget review in February and March of 2022 and 

examining the current workload and filled positions along with the goals and objectives for FY 2021-2022 

articulated by the Board, the Executive Director, and the Budget & Personnel Committee, the Board believes 

that it is necessary to convert the vacant Deputy Director Position to a new Policy Director Position; and 

WHEREAS, the Deputy Director Position was initially created in 2010 to backup and assist the 

Executive Director with day to day operations; work on special projects, and as a succession planning tool to 

help identify and train a potential successor to the Board’s previous Executive Director; and 

WHEREAS, Board has recently hired a new Executive Director and created a new General Counsel 

position that reports directly to the Board and can back up the Executive Director when the need arises, and 

WHEREAS, the Board has identified several policy initiatives, such as the need to study the 

continued impacts of Costa Hawkins, improving Berkeley’s tenant Relocation Ordinance, and working with 

local and regional groups to develop a coordinated and effective response to the housing crisis; and 

WHEREAS, the Deputy Director position is more operationally focused and the majority of the 

Board’s identified policy initiatives require policy expertise, particularly in the areas of housing and land use 

planning; and  

WHEREAS, the creation of a new Policy Director position that can lead the Board’s policy 

initiatives will improve the agency’s ability to accomplish the goals outlined in the Board’s adopted budget. 



RESOLUTION 22-03 

ADJUSTING THE FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 STAFFING MODEL POSITION DETAIL TO 
CONVERT THE VACANT DEPUTY DIRECTOR POSITION TO A NEW POLICY DIRECTOR 
POSITION (Page 3) 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board directs staff to eliminate the vacant 

Deputy Director position and create a new permanent Policy Director position; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT this change to the staffing model will not cause the Board 

to exceed the overall spending level totaling $6,275,535 it previously authorized for the Fiscal Year 2021-

2022.   

Dated:  March 17, 2022 

Adopted by the Rent Stabilization Board of the City of Berkeley by the following vote: 

YES:  
NO: 
ABSTAIN: 
ABSENT:  

____________________________
Leah Simon-Weisberg, Chairperson 
Rent Stabilization Board 

Attest:  ________________________________        
 DéSeana Williams, Executive Director 



As Amends the Law Today

AB-2469 Housing: Statewide Rental Registry. (2021-2022)

 

SECTION 1. (a) This act shall be known, and may be cited, as the Statewide Rental Registry.

(b) It is the intent of the Legislature in enacting this act to do all of the following:

(1) Build a database of rental units throughout the state of California to support housing development, renter
protections, and effective implementation of applicable California housing laws.

(2) Prevent homelessness by providing access to data encompassing the full scope of rental units in the state.

(3) Provide a publicly accessible portal to local government, courts, nonprofit organizations, and residents of this
state to submit and aggregate accurate rental data.

SEC. 2. Section 1942.10 is added to the Civil Code, to read:

1942.10. A landlord that fails to complete and submit a rental registry form for a dwelling unit, as required by
Section 50467 of the Health and Safety Code, shall not take any of the following actions until a form is submitted
that substantially complies with that section:

(a) Issue a notice of a rent increase.

(b) Issue a notice pursuant to Section 1946.1.

(c) Issue any notice or initiate any action pursuant to Section 1161 of the Code of Civil Procedure.

SEC. 3. Section 50467 is added to the Health and Safety Code, immediately following Section 50466.5, to read:

50467. (a) For purposes of this section, “landlord” means a person or entity that hires dwelling units subject to
Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 1940) of Title 5 of Part 4 of Division 3 of the Civil Code.

(b) (1) The department shall develop and administer a rental registry online portal. The rental registry online
portal shall be designed to do both of the following:

(A) Receive information from landlords, as described in subdivision (c), and then make available the information
to the public.

(B) Receive information from parties other than landlords, including, but not limited to, tenants, local
governments, courts, nonprofit organizations, and residents of this state.

(2) (A) The department shall create a rental registry form, which shall be made available on the rental registry
online portal and allow data entered into the form to be machine readable.

(B) The rental registry form shall be drafted to collect from a landlord all of the following information:

(i) The legal address of each property, and all associated rental unit numbers.

(ii) The legal name of each beneficial owner and the ownership entity for each property, including, but not
limited to, limited partners, general partners, limited liability company members, and shareholders with 10
percent or more ownership of the entity.

(iii) The ownership type of each property and the year the owner acquired the property.

Home Bill Information California Law Publications Other Resources My Subscriptions My Favorites

Item 8.b.



(iv) The year in which the residential structure was originally constructed on the property.

(v) The number of bedrooms, bathrooms, kitchens, and occupancy status of each rental unit.

(vi) The month and year that the most current occupancy began for each rental unit.

(vii) The total number of months that each rental unit was rented during the previous calendar year and the
number of months the unit was vacant.

(viii) The amount of payments collected for rent and utilities in the previous calendar year. This amount shall
include the amount paid for utilities that is included in the rent.

(ix) The month and year of the effective date of the last rent increase and decrease for each rental unit and the
amount of the increase or decrease.

(x) The number of tenants, at the reported unit, for which the landlord terminated a tenancy in the previous
calendar year, and the reason for each termination.

(3) (A) The rental registry online portal, and all forms necessary for its effective and efficient use, shall be
complete and prepared to accept landlord submissions by January 1, 2024.

(B) The rental registry online portal, and all forms necessary for its effective and efficient use, shall be
operational and accessible to the public by January 1, 2025.

(C) The rental registry online portal shall be provided in multiple languages.

(D) (i) The rental registry online portal shall comply with all relevant state and federal laws regarding privacy
and personally identifying information.

(ii) The department shall aggregate information pertaining to terminations of tenancy and the reasons for
termination. The department shall publish this information every five years. Publicly available data on
terminations shall not include specific dates or years.

(c) (1) A landlord shall complete and submit, under penalty of perjury, a rental registry form for each property.
Each landlord shall thereafter complete and submit a rental registry form for each property annually.

(2) Landlords, upon completion of the registry, shall receive an electronic confirmation of their submission.

(d) For a city or county with an existing rental registry, the agency responsible for the registry shall ensure all
information required to be collected pursuant to subdivision (b) is included in the registry and that the registry
produces machine readable data.

SEC. 4. No reimbursement is required by this act pursuant to Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California
Constitution for certain costs that may be incurred by a local agency or school district because, in that regard,
this act creates a new crime or infraction, eliminates a crime or infraction, or changes the penalty for a crime or
infraction, within the meaning of Section 17556 of the Government Code, or changes the definition of a crime
within the meaning of Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California Constitution.

However, if the Commission on State Mandates determines that this act contains other costs mandated by the
state, reimbursement to local agencies and school districts for those costs shall be made pursuant to Part 7
(commencing with Section 17500) of Division 4 of Title 2 of the Government Code.



As Amends the Law Today

AB-2297 Tenancy: fee in lieu of a security deposit. (2021-2022)

 

SECTION 1. Section 1950.5.1 is added to the Civil Code, to read:

1950.5.1. (a) As used in this section, “rental debt” means unpaid rent or any other unpaid financial obligation of a
tenant under the tenancy.

(b) A landlord who offers a tenant or prospective tenant the option of paying a fee in lieu of a security deposit
shall do both of the following:

(1) (A) Offer the tenant or prospective tenant the option to instead pay a security deposit.

(B) A landlord shall not use a prospective tenant’s choice to pay a fee in lieu of a security deposit or make a
security deposit as a criterion in the determination of whether to approve an application for occupancy.

(2) Offer the option of paying a fee in lieu of a security deposit to every prospective tenant unless the landlord
chooses to cease offering the option of paying a fee in lieu of a security deposit for every prospective tenant.

(c) A tenant who accepts an offer to pay a fee in lieu of a security deposit may terminate the agreement to pay
the fee in lieu of a security deposit at any time and stop paying the fee if the tenant chooses to instead make a
security deposit in the amount that the landlord offers to new tenants for substantially similar housing on the
date the tenant chooses to make a security deposit instead of paying a fee in lieu of a security deposit.

(d) At the time a landlord offers to a tenant the option of paying a fee in lieu of a security deposit, the landlord
shall notify the tenant in writing of all of the following:

(1) The tenant has the option to instead make a security deposit.

(2) The tenant has the option to terminate the agreement to pay the fee in lieu of a security deposit and instead
make a security deposit pursuant to subdivision (b).

(3) The charges associated with each option described in paragraphs (1) and (2).

(e) An agreement to pay a fee in lieu of a security deposit shall be in writing, signed by the landlord or the
landlord’s legal representative and the tenant, and shall include all of the following items:

(1) The fee is being paid only to secure occupancy without a requirement of making a security deposit.

(2) The fee, unless otherwise specified, is not refundable.

(3) Payment of the fee, unless otherwise specified, does not eliminate, release, or otherwise limit the
requirements of the lease, including that the tenant shall pay for all of the following:

(A) Rent as it becomes due.

(B) Damages for which the tenant is legally liable under the lease.

(C) Any other payment obligations pursuant to the lease.

(f) A fee in lieu of a security deposit shall be payable at the time, and in the same amount each time, that each
rent payment is due during the lease.

Home Bill Information California Law Publications Other Resources My Subscriptions My Favorites

Item 8.c.



(g) (1) A landlord who collects a fee in lieu of a security deposit pursuant to this section shall not submit a claim
for damages or rental debt to a third party unless the landlord has given notice to the tenant of the claim for
damages or rental debt no later than 30 days after the date the tenant surrendered possession of the dwelling.

(2) The notice described in paragraph (1) shall include a written description and itemized list of any damages
and rental debt, including the dates that any rental debt payments were due.

(3) (A) If a tenant challenges a claim for damages or rental debt noticed pursuant to this subdivision, and that
challenge results in a determination by the landlord or by a court that the notice contained incorrect information,
the notice shall be deemed void for purposes of this subdivision, and the landlord shall not file a claim with a
third party for the amounts of damages or rental debt that were successfully challenged.

(B) If a landlord has submitted a claim for damages or rental debt to a third party before the notice to the tenant
was voided pursuant to this paragraph, the landlord shall withdraw the claim and return any payment from the
third party.

(h) If a landlord who collects a fee in lieu of a security deposit pursuant to this section receives compensation
from a third party for a tenant’s damages or rental debt pursuant to a claim of which the tenant was given
proper notice pursuant to subdivision (g), both of the following shall apply:

(1) The landlord shall not seek or collect reimbursement from the tenant for the amount of compensation
received.

(2) (A) A third party, if otherwise authorized by contract, may seek, on or before the date that is one year from
the termination of the tenant’s occupancy, reimbursement from the tenant of only the amounts paid to the
landlord plus reasonable administration costs, legal fees, and collection costs.

(B) A third party seeking reimbursement from the tenant pursuant to this paragraph shall include in the claim for
reimbursement any evidence of damages or rental debt that the landlord submitted to the third party, any
evidence of damage repair costs that the landlord submitted to the third party, and a copy of the settled claim
that documents payments made by the third party to the landlord.

(C) In an action seeking reimbursement from the tenant commenced pursuant to this paragraph, a tenant shall
be entitled to any defenses to payment against the third party as against the landlord.

(i) A fee in lieu of a security deposit offered pursuant to this section is not “security,” as defined in Section
1950.5.



 

AB 2297 
The Undoing of California’s Security Deposit Protections 

 

What is AB 2297? 
 

AB 2297 is a bill introduced by Assemblymember Buffy Wicks. The bill claims to create a “choice” for 

tenants concerning security deposits. Instead, the bill legalizes landlords charging nonrefundable monthly 

fees instead of standard security deposits. The bill creates no tangible benefit for tenants, and instead 

makes them potentially liable for increased damages and attorneys’ fees.  
 

Does AB 2297 Set A Maximum Monthly Fee That Landlords Can Charge?  
 

No. If the bill were to pass, landlords could charge tenants hundreds of dollars in monthly fees. 
 

If a Tenant Causes Damages, Will The Fees be Used to Cover the Damage? 
 

No. The landlord will not need to account for the nonrefundable fees in any way. This means that if a 

landlord alleges that the tenant did not pay rent or damaged the unit, the money that the tenant paid in 

“fees” will not offset the claimed damage.  
 

Can a Tenant Choose to Pay a Regular Deposit? 
 

The bill states that landlords must offer tenants the choice to pay a traditional security deposit. However, 

the law does not provide any remedy against a landlord who only accepts fee-paying tenants. If presented 

with an option to pay a $500 monthly fee or a one-time $3,000 deposit that the landlord must return, 

tenants will know which option they must choose to have their application for tenancy accepted.  
 

Can a Tenant Stop Paying The Fees? 
 

AB 2297 states that a tenant can stop paying fees at any time if they provide the landlord with a standard 

deposit. However, a tenant forced to pay hundreds of dollars a month may never be in a position to pay a 

large deposit. Further, as the state lacks meaningful just cause, retaliation, and anti-harassment 

protections, many tenants will be playing with fire by withdrawing this income source from their 

landlords. 
 

What Happens if a Landlord Claims a Fee-Paying Tenant Damages a Rental Unit? 
 

The most troubling aspect of AB 2297 is the creation of an elaborate scheme to defraud tenants and 

saddle them with thousands of dollars in damages and legal fees. If AB 2297 were to pass, landlords 

could make a claim to a “third-party” collector that a tenant had damaged their unit. The tenant would 

have no meaningful ability to challenge this claim.  

 

The collector could then sue the tenant not only for the alleged damage to the tenants’ home but for legal 

fees and costs. Even if the tenant didn’t challenge the lawsuit at all, they could still be saddled with 

thousands of dollars in fees. Tenants who fight the cases will almost always be worse off. AB 2297 

creates a system where even if a tenant fights and dramatically reduces the landlord’s claims, they will 

still need to pay the opposing attorney’s fees unless they can prove they caused $0 in damage to the 

apartment. For example, a landlord might claim that a tenant caused $10,000 of scratches to a hardwood 

floor. If the tenant retained an attorney, fought the lawsuit, and proved they only caused $100 in damages, 

they would still need to pay for all of the other side’s attorney’s fees (in addition to their own attorney’s 
fees). These fees could amount to tens of thousands of dollars. 



As Amends the Law Today

AB-2713 Tenant protections: just cause termination: rent caps. (2021-2022)

 

SECTION 1. Section 1946.2 of the Civil Code is amended to read:

1946.2. (a) Notwithstanding any other law, after a tenant has continuously and lawfully occupied a residential real
property for 12 months, the owner of the residential real property shall not terminate the tenancy without just
cause, which shall be stated in the written notice to terminate the  tenancy. If any additional adult tenants are
added to the lease before an existing tenant has continuously and lawfully occupied the residential real property
for 24 months, then this subdivision shall only apply if either of the following are satisfied:

(1) All of the tenants have continuously and lawfully occupied the residential real property for 12 months or
more.

(2) One or more tenants have continuously and lawfully occupied the residential real property for 24 months or
more.

(b) For purposes of this section, “just cause” includes means  either of the following:

(1) At-fault just cause, which is any of the following:

(A) Default in the payment of rent.

(B) A breach of a material term of the lease, as described in paragraph (3) of Section 1161 of the Code of Civil
Procedure, including, but not limited to, violation of a provision of the lease after being issued a written notice to
correct the violation.

(C) Maintaining, committing, or permitting the maintenance or commission of a nuisance as described in
paragraph (4) of Section 1161 of the Code of Civil Procedure.

(D) Committing waste as described in paragraph (4) of Section 1161 of the Code of Civil Procedure.

(E) The tenant had a written lease that terminated on or after January 1, 2020, or January 1, 2022, if the lease
is for a tenancy in a mobilehome, and after a written request or demand from the owner, the tenant has refused
to execute a written extension or renewal of the lease for an additional term of similar duration with similar
provisions, provided that those terms do not violate this section or any other provision of  law.

(F) Criminal activity by the tenant on the residential real property, including any common areas, or any criminal
activity or criminal threat, as defined in subdivision (a) of Section 422 of the Penal Code, on or off the residential
real property, that is directed at any owner or agent of the owner of the residential real property.

(G) Assigning or subletting the premises in violation of the tenant’s lease, as described in paragraph (4) of
Section 1161 of the Code of Civil Procedure.

(H) The tenant’s refusal to allow the owner to enter the residential real property as authorized by Sections
1101.5 and 1954 of this code, and Sections 13113.7 and 17926.1 of the Health and Safety Code.

(I) Using the premises for an unlawful purpose as described in paragraph (4) of Section 1161 of the Code of Civil
Procedure.

(J) (i)  The employee, agent, or licensee’s failure to vacate after their termination as an employee, agent, or a
licensee licensee,  as described in paragraph (1) of Section 1161 of the Code of Civil Procedure.

Home Bill Information California Law Publications Other Resources My Subscriptions My Favorites

Item 8.d.



(ii) This subparagraph does not apply to an employee who was a tenant in the same unit before the
commencement of the employee’s employment.

(K) When the tenant fails to deliver possession of the residential real property after providing the owner written
notice as provided in Section 1946 of the tenant’s intention to terminate the hiring of the real property, or makes
a written offer to surrender that is accepted in writing by the landlord, but fails to deliver possession at the time
specified in that written notice as described in paragraph (5) of Section 1161 of the Code of Civil Procedure.

(2) No-fault just cause, which includes means  any of the following:

(A) (i) Intent to  Subject to clause (ii), good faith intent to  occupy the residential real property by the owner or
their  the owner’s  spouse, domestic partner, children, grandchildren, parents, or grandparents. grandparents for
at least three consecutive years. For purposes of this subparagraph, “owner” means an owner who is a natural
person who has at least a 51 percent recorded ownership interest in the property.

(ii) (I)  For leases entered into on or after July 1, 2020, or July 1, 2022, if the lease is for a tenancy in a
mobilehome, clause (i) shall apply only if the tenant agrees, in writing, to the termination, or if a provision of the
lease allows the owner to terminate the lease if the owner, or their  the owner’s  spouse, domestic partner,
children, grandchildren, parents, or grandparents, unilaterally decides to occupy the residential real property.
Addition of a provision allowing the owner to terminate the lease as described in this clause to a new or renewed
rental agreement or fixed-term lease constitutes a similar provision for the purposes of subparagraph (E) of
paragraph (1).

(II) An owner shall not terminate a tenancy under this subparagraph if the same owner or relative already
occupies a unit on the residential real property or if there is a vacancy on the residential real property.

(III) A notice of termination citing the no-fault just cause described in this subparagraph shall state the name,
address, and relationship to the owner of the individual intending to occupy the unit.

(IV) An owner who terminated a tenancy pursuant to this subparagraph shall re-offer the unit to the displaced
tenant at the same rent and under the same terms as when the tenancy was terminated if either of the following
is true:

(ia) The owner or relative fails to occupy the property within 90 days.

(ib) The owner or relative fails to occupy the property for at least three consecutive years.

(B) (i)  Withdrawal of the  all of the rental units at the  residential real property from the rental market. market
for the purpose of changing the property’s use from residential use to nonresidential use or for the purpose of
selling each unit on the property for owner-occupancy, only if both of the following are true and described with
particularity in a notice to the tenant pursuant to subdivision (a):

(I) The owner has previously provided the tenant with a written notice of intent to withdraw the unit from the
rental market pursuant to paragraph (4) of subdivision (d) before serving a notice of termination pursuant to
subdivision (a) describing the intended use of the property pursuant to this subparagraph.

(II) Either of the following:

(ia) If the owner intends to change the use to a nonresidential use, the owner has filed a complete application
with the appropriate local governmental agency to obtain any necessary approvals for the intended
nonresidential use, including, but not limited to, a demolition permit, if required. For purposes of this subclause,
a nonresidential use includes demolition of the structure or maintaining the structure as vacant.

(ib) If the owner intends to sell the units, the owner has obtained any necessary state and local approvals to
subdivide and market the units and has complied with any state and local laws governing the conversion of
rental units to for-sale units, including, but not limited to, conversion of rental units to condominiums.

(ii) If the owner does not change the property’s use or returns the property to the rental market after having
terminated a tenancy pursuant to this subparagraph, the owner shall re-offer a unit to any tenant who was
displaced by the notice to terminate at the same rental rate and terms as when the tenancy was terminated.

(C) (i) The owner complying with any of the following:

(I) An order issued by a government agency or court relating to habitability that necessitates vacating the
residential real property.



(II) An order issued by a government agency or court to vacate the residential real property.

(III) A local ordinance that necessitates vacating the residential real property.

(ii) If it is determined by any government agency or court that the tenant is at fault for the condition or
conditions triggering the order or need to vacate under clause (i), the tenant shall not be entitled to relocation
assistance as outlined in paragraph (3) of subdivision (d).

(D) (i) Intent to  Subject to clause (ii), intent to  demolish or to substantially remodel the residential real
property.

(ii) Before an owner of residential real property issues a notice to terminate a tenancy based on intent to
demolish or substantially remodel the property, the owner shall obtain any necessary permits for the demolition
or substantial remodel from the applicable governmental agencies. A termination notice based on intent to
demolish or substantially remodel shall include a copy of any issued permits and include reasonably detailed
information regarding all of the following:

(I) The nature and scope of the demolition or substantial remodeling work.

(II) Why the demolition or substantial remodel cannot be reasonably accomplished in a safe manner with the
tenant in place.

(III) Why the demolition or substantial remodel requires the tenant to vacate for at least 30 days.

(ii) (iii)  For purposes of this subparagraph, “substantially remodel” means the replacement or substantial
modification of any structural, electrical, plumbing, or mechanical system that requires a permit from a
governmental agency, or the abatement of hazardous materials, including lead-based paint, mold, or asbestos,
in accordance with applicable federal, state, and local laws, that cannot be reasonably accomplished in a safe
manner with the tenant in place and that requires the tenant to vacate the residential real property for at least
30 days. Cosmetic improvements alone, including painting, decorating, and minor repairs, or other work that can
be performed safely without having the residential real property vacated, do not qualify as substantial
rehabilitation.

(c) Before an owner of residential real property issues a notice to terminate a tenancy for just cause that is a
curable lease violation, the owner shall first give notice of the violation to the tenant with an opportunity to cure
the violation pursuant to paragraph (3) of Section 1161 of the Code of Civil Procedure. If the violation is not
cured within the time period set forth in the notice, a three-day notice to quit without an opportunity to cure may
thereafter be served to terminate the tenancy.

(d) (1) For a tenancy for which just cause is required to terminate the tenancy under subdivision (a), if an owner
of residential real property issues a termination notice based on a no-fault just cause described in paragraph (2)
of subdivision (b), the owner shall, regardless of the tenant’s income, at the owner’s option, do one of the
following:

(A) Assist the tenant to relocate by providing a direct payment to the tenant as described in paragraph (3).

(B) Waive in writing the payment of rent for the final month of the tenancy, prior to the rent becoming due.

(2) If an owner issues a notice to terminate a tenancy for no-fault just cause, the owner shall notify the tenant of
the tenant’s right to relocation assistance or rent waiver pursuant to this section. If the owner elects to waive the
rent for the final month of the tenancy as provided in subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1), the notice shall state
the amount of rent waived and that no rent is due for the final month of the tenancy.

(3) (A) The amount of relocation assistance or rent waiver shall be equal to one month of the tenant’s rent that
was in effect when the owner issued the notice to terminate the tenancy. Any relocation assistance shall be
provided within 15 calendar days of service of the notice.

(B) If a tenant fails to vacate after the expiration of the notice to terminate the tenancy, the actual amount of
any relocation assistance or rent waiver provided pursuant to this subdivision shall be recoverable as damages in
an action to recover possession.

(C) The relocation assistance or rent waiver required by this subdivision shall be credited against any other
relocation assistance required by any other law.



(4) (A) An owner that issues a notice to terminate a tenancy pursuant to subparagraph (B) of paragraph (2) of
subdivision (b) shall provide a separate written notice at least 180 days before issuing the notice pursuant to
subparagraph (B) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) notifying the tenant of the owner’s intent to remove the
unit from the rental market.

(B) (i) The notice required by this paragraph shall state that if the tenant or a member of the household is at
least 62 years of age or disabled, the tenant may request an extension of the notice to one year if the tenant or
lessee gives written notice of the tenant’s or lessee’s entitlement to an extension to the owner within 60 days of
the date of delivery to the tenant of the notice required by this paragraph.

(ii) If a notice from the tenant is provided pursuant to this subparagraph, the landlord shall not serve a notice
pursuant to subparagraph (B) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) until at least one year after service of the
notice required by this paragraph.

(iii) During the period covered by the notice required by this paragraph, both of the following shall apply:

(I) The tenancy shall be continued on the same terms and conditions as existed on the date of delivery of the
notice required by this paragraph, subject to the valid terms of a lease or rental agreement in effect at the time
of service that are not in conflict with or purport to waive this section.

(II) A party shall not be relieved of the duty to perform any obligation under the lease or rental agreement.

(4) (5)  An owner’s failure to strictly comply with this subdivision shall render the notice of termination void.

(e) This section shall not apply to the following types of residential real properties or residential circumstances:

(1) Transient and tourist hotel occupancy as defined in subdivision (b) of Section 1940.

(2) Housing accommodations in a nonprofit hospital, religious facility, extended care facility, licensed residential
care facility for the elderly, as defined in Section 1569.2 of the Health and Safety Code, or an adult residential
facility, as defined in Chapter 6 of Division 6 of Title 22 of the Manual of Policies and Procedures published by the
State Department of Social Services.

(3) Dormitories owned and operated by an institution of higher education or a kindergarten and grades 1 to 12,
inclusive, school.

(4) Housing accommodations in which the tenant shares bathroom or kitchen facilities with the owner who
maintains their principal residence at the residential real property.

(5) Single-family owner-occupied residences, including both of the following:

(A) A residence in which the owner-occupant rents or leases no more than two units or bedrooms, including, but
not limited to, an accessory dwelling unit or a junior accessory dwelling unit.

(B) A mobilehome.

(6) A property containing two separate dwelling units within a single structure in which the owner occupied one
of the units as the owner’s principal place of residence at the beginning of the tenancy, so long as the owner
continues in occupancy, and neither unit is an accessory dwelling unit or a junior accessory dwelling unit.

(7) Housing that has been issued a certificate of occupancy within the previous 15 years, unless the housing is a
mobilehome.

(8) Residential real property, including a mobilehome, that is alienable separate from the title to any other
dwelling unit, provided that both of the following apply:

(A) The owner is not any of the following:

(i) A real estate investment trust, as defined in Section 856 of the Internal Revenue Code.

(ii) A corporation.

(iii) A limited liability company in which at least one member is a corporation.

(iv) Management of a mobilehome park, as defined in Section 798.2.



(B) (i) The tenants have been provided written notice that the residential property is exempt from this section
using the following statement:

“This property is not subject to the rent limits imposed by Section 1947.12 of the Civil Code and is not subject to
the just cause requirements of Section 1946.2 of the Civil Code. This property meets the requirements of
Sections 1947.12 (d)(5) and 1946.2 (e)(8) of the Civil Code and the owner is not any of the following: (1) a real
estate investment trust, as defined by Section 856 of the Internal Revenue Code; (2) a corporation; or (3) a
limited liability company in which at least one member is a corporation.”

(ii) (I) Except as provided in subclause (II), for a tenancy existing before July 1, 2020, the notice required under
clause (i) may, but is not required to, be provided in the rental agreement.

(II) For a tenancy in a mobilehome existing before July 1, 2022, the notice required under clause (i) may, but is
not required to, be provided in the rental agreement.

(iii) (I) Except as provided in subclause (II), for any tenancy commenced or renewed on or after July 1, 2020,
the notice required under clause (i) must be provided in the rental agreement.

(II) For any tenancy in a mobilehome commenced or renewed on or after July 1, 2022, the notice required under
clause (i) shall be provided in the rental agreement.

(iv) Addition of a provision containing the notice required under clause (i) to any new or renewed rental
agreement or fixed-term lease constitutes a similar provision for the purposes of subparagraph (E) of paragraph
(1) of subdivision (b).

(9) Housing restricted by deed, regulatory restriction contained in an agreement with a government agency, or
other recorded document as affordable housing for persons and families of very low, low, or moderate income, as
defined in Section 50093 of the Health and Safety Code, or subject to an agreement that provides housing
subsidies for affordable housing for persons and families of very low, low, or moderate income, as defined in
Section 50093 of the Health and Safety Code or comparable federal statutes.

(f) An owner of residential real property subject to this section shall provide notice to the tenant as follows:

(1) (A) Except as provided in subparagraph (B), for any tenancy commenced or renewed on or after July 1,
2020, as an addendum to the lease or rental agreement, or as a written notice signed by the tenant, with a copy
provided to the tenant.

(B) For a tenancy in a mobilehome commenced or renewed on or after July 1, 2022, as an addendum to the
lease or rental agreement, or as a written notice signed by the tenant, with a copy provided to the tenant.

(2) (A) Except as provided in subparagraph (B), for a tenancy existing prior to July 1, 2020, by written notice to
the tenant no later than August 1, 2020, or as an addendum to the lease or rental agreement.

(B) For a tenancy in a mobilehome existing prior to July 1, 2022, by written notice to the tenant no later than
August 1, 2022, or as an addendum to the lease or rental agreement.

(3) The notification or lease provision shall be in no less than 12-point type, and shall include the following:

“California law limits the amount your rent can be increased. See Section 1947.12 of the Civil Code for more
information. California law also provides that after all of the tenants have continuously and lawfully occupied the
property for 12 months or more or at least one of the tenants has continuously and lawfully occupied the
property for 24 months or more, a landlord must provide a statement of cause in any notice to terminate a
tenancy. See Section 1946.2 of the Civil Code for more information.” 

The provision of the notice shall be subject to Section 1632.

(g) (1) This section does not apply to the following residential real property:

(A) Residential real property subject to a local ordinance requiring just cause for termination of a residential
tenancy adopted on or before September 1, 2019, in which case the local ordinance shall apply.

(B) Residential real property subject to a local ordinance requiring just cause for termination of a residential
tenancy adopted or amended after September 1, 2019, that is more protective than this section, in which case



the local ordinance shall apply. For purposes of this subparagraph, an ordinance is “more protective” if it meets
all of the following criteria:

(i) The just cause for termination of a residential tenancy under the local ordinance is consistent with this
section.

(ii) The ordinance further limits the reasons for termination of a residential tenancy, provides for higher
relocation assistance amounts, or provides additional tenant protections that are not prohibited by any other
provision of law.

(iii) The local government has made a binding finding within their local ordinance that the ordinance is more
protective than the provisions of this section.

(2) A residential real property shall not be subject to both a local ordinance requiring just cause for termination
of a residential tenancy and this section.

(3) A local ordinance adopted after September 1, 2019, that is less protective than this section shall not be
enforced unless this section is repealed.

(h) Any waiver of the rights under this section shall be void as contrary to public policy.

(i) A termination notice issued pursuant to this section shall state the lawful rent amount in effect for the unit at
the time the termination notice was served.

(i) (j)  For the purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:

(1) “Owner” includes  means, except as provided in subparagraph (A) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (b),  any
person, acting as principal or through an agent, having the right to offer residential real property for rent, and
includes a predecessor in interest to the owner.

(2) “Residential real property” means any dwelling or unit that is intended for human habitation, including any
dwelling or unit in a mobilehome park.

(3) “Tenancy” means the lawful occupation of residential real property and includes a lease or sublease.

(j) (k)  This section shall not apply to a homeowner of a mobilehome, as defined in Section 798.9.

(k) (l)  This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2030, and as of that date is repealed.

SEC. 2. Section 1947.12 of the Civil Code is amended to read:

1947.12. (a) (1) (A)  Subject to subdivision (b), an owner of residential real property shall not, over the course of
any 12-month period, increase the gross rental rate for a dwelling or a unit more than 5 percent plus the
percentage change in the cost of living, or 10 percent, whichever is lower, of the lowest gross rental rate charged
for that dwelling or unit at any time during the 12 months prior to the effective date of the increase. In
determining the lowest gross rental amount pursuant to this section, any rent discounts, incentives, concessions,
or credits offered by the owner of such unit of residential real property and accepted by the tenant shall be
excluded. The gross per-month rental rate and any owner-offered discounts, incentives, concessions, or credits
shall be separately listed and identified in the lease or rental agreement or any amendments to an existing lease
or rental agreement.

(B) A lease provision that results in an increase in the gross rental rate for a dwelling unit that would exceed the
limits provided in this paragraph, including a lease provision that purports to render a service or amenity
previously provided or paid for by the landlord the financial obligation of the tenant without a corresponding
reduction in rent, shall not be enforceable.

(2) If the same tenant remains in occupancy of a unit of residential real property over any 12-month period, the
gross rental rate for the unit of residential real property shall not be increased in more than two increments over
that 12-month period, subject to the other restrictions of this subdivision governing gross rental rate increase.

(b) For a new tenancy in which no tenant from the prior tenancy remains in lawful possession of the residential
real property, the owner may establish the initial rental rate not subject to subdivision (a). Subdivision (a) is only
applicable to subsequent increases after that initial rental rate has been established.



(c) A tenant of residential real property subject to this section shall not enter into a sublease that results in a
total rent for the premises that exceeds the allowable rental rate authorized by subdivision (a). Nothing in this
subdivision authorizes a tenant to sublet or assign the tenant’s interest where otherwise prohibited.

(d) This section shall not apply to the following residential real properties:

(1) Housing restricted by deed, regulatory restriction contained in an agreement with a government agency, or
other recorded document as affordable housing for persons and families of very low, low, or moderate income, as
defined in Section 50093 of the Health and Safety Code, or subject to an agreement that provides housing
subsidies for affordable housing for persons and families of very low, low, or moderate income, as defined in
Section 50093 of the Health and Safety Code or comparable federal statutes.

(2) Dormitories owned and operated by an institution of higher education or a kindergarten and grades 1 to 12,
inclusive, school.

(3) Housing subject to rent or price control through a public entity’s valid exercise of its police power consistent
with Chapter 2.7 (commencing with Section 1954.50) that restricts annual increases in the rental rate to an
amount less than that provided in subdivision (a).

(4) Housing that has been issued a certificate of occupancy within the previous 15 years, unless the housing is a
mobilehome.

(5) Residential real property that is alienable separate from the title to any other dwelling unit, including a
mobilehome, provided that both of the following apply:

(A) The owner is not any of the following:

(i) A real estate investment trust, as defined in Section 856 of the Internal Revenue Code.

(ii) A corporation.

(iii) A limited liability company in which at least one member is a corporation.

(iv) Management of a mobilehome park, as defined in Section 798.2.

(B) (i) The tenants have been provided written notice that the residential real property is exempt from this
section using the following statement:

“This property is not subject to the rent limits imposed by Section 1947.12 of the Civil Code and is not subject to
the just cause requirements of Section 1946.2 of the Civil Code. This property meets the requirements of
Sections 1947.12 (d)(5) and 1946.2 (e)(8) of the Civil Code and the owner is not any of the following: (1) a real
estate investment trust, as defined by Section 856 of the Internal Revenue Code; (2) a corporation; or (3) a
limited liability company in which at least one member is a corporation.”

(ii) For a tenancy existing before July 1, 2020, or July 1, 2022, if the lease is for a tenancy in a mobilehome, the
notice required under clause (i) may, but is not required to, be provided in the rental agreement.

(iii) For a tenancy commenced or renewed on or after July 1, 2020, or July 1, 2022, if the lease is for a tenancy
in a mobilehome, the notice required under clause (i) must be provided in the rental agreement.

(iv) Addition of a provision containing the notice required under clause (i) to any new or renewed rental
agreement or fixed-term lease constitutes a similar provision for the purposes of subparagraph (E) of paragraph
(1) of subdivision (b) of Section 1946.2.

(6) A property containing two separate dwelling units within a single structure in which the owner occupied one
of the units as the owner’s principal place of residence at the beginning of the tenancy, so long as the owner
continues in occupancy, and neither unit is an accessory dwelling unit or a junior accessory dwelling unit.

(e) An owner shall provide notice of any increase in the rental rate, pursuant to subdivision (a), to each tenant in
accordance with Section 827.

(f) (1) On or before January 1, 2030, the Legislative Analyst’s Office shall report to the Legislature regarding the
effectiveness of this section and Section 1947.13. The report shall include, but not be limited to, the impact of
the rental rate cap pursuant to subdivision (a) on the housing market within the state.



(2) The report required by paragraph (1) shall be submitted in compliance with Section 9795 of the Government
Code.

(g) For the purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:

(1) “Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers for All Items” means the following:

(A) The Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers for All Items (CPI-U) for the metropolitan area in which
the property is located, as published by the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics, which are as follows:

(i) The CPI-U for the Los Angeles-Long Beach-Anaheim metropolitan area covering the Counties of Los Angeles
and Orange.

(ii) The CPI-U for the Riverside-San Bernardo-Ontario metropolitan area covering the Counties of Riverside and
San Bernardino.

(iii) The CPI-U for the San Diego-Carlsbad metropolitan area covering the County of San Diego.

(iv) The CPI-U for the San Francisco-Oakland-Hayward metropolitan area covering the Counties of Alameda,
Contra Costa, Marin, San Francisco, and San Mateo.

(v) Any successor metropolitan area index to any of the indexes listed in clauses (i) to (iv), inclusive.

(B) If the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics does not publish a CPI-U for the metropolitan area in which
the property is located, the California Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers for All Items as published
by the Department of Industrial Relations.

(C) On or after January 1, 2021, if the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics publishes a CPI-U index for one
or more metropolitan areas not listed in subparagraph (A), that CPI-U index shall apply in those areas with
respect to rent increases that take effect on or after August 1 of the calendar year in which the 12-month change
in that CPI-U, as described in subparagraph (B) of paragraph (3), is first published.

(2) “Owner” includes any person, acting as principal or through an agent, having the right to offer residential
real property for rent, and includes a predecessor in interest to the owner.

(3) (A) “Percentage change in the cost of living” means the percentage change, computed pursuant to
subparagraph (B), in the applicable, as determined pursuant to paragraph (1), Consumer Price Index for All
Urban Consumers for All Items.

(B) (i) For rent increases that take effect before August 1 of any calendar year, the following shall apply:

(I) The percentage change shall be the percentage change in the amount published for April of the immediately
preceding calendar year and April of the year before that.

(II) If there is not an amount published in April for the applicable geographic area, the percentage change shall
be the percentage change in the amount published for March of the immediately preceding calendar year and
March of the year before that.

(ii) For rent increases that take effect on or after August 1 of any calendar year, the following shall apply:

(I) The percentage change shall be the percentage change in the amount published for April of that calendar
year and April of the immediately preceding calendar year.

(II) If there is not an amount published in April for the applicable geographic area, the percentage change shall
be the percentage change in the amount published for March of that calendar year and March of the immediately
preceding calendar year.

(iii) The percentage change shall be rounded to the nearest one-tenth of 1 percent.

(4) “Residential real property” means any dwelling or unit that is intended for human habitation, including any
dwelling or unit in a mobilehome park.

(5) “Tenancy” means the lawful occupation of residential real property and includes a lease or sublease.

(h) (1) This section shall apply to all rent increases subject to subdivision (a) occurring on or after March 15,
2019, except as provided in subdivision (i).



(2) In the event that an owner has increased the rent by more than the amount permissible under subdivision
(a) between March 15, 2019, and January 1, 2020, both of the following shall apply:

(A) The applicable rent on January 1, 2020, shall be the rent as of March 15, 2019, plus the maximum
permissible increase under subdivision (a).

(B) An owner shall not be liable to the tenant for any corresponding rent overpayment.

(3) An owner of residential real property subject to subdivision (a) who increased the rental rate on that
residential real property on or after March 15, 2019, but prior to January 1, 2020, by an amount less than the
rental rate increase permitted by subdivision (a) shall be allowed to increase the rental rate twice, as provided in
paragraph (2) of subdivision (a), within 12 months of March 15, 2019, but in no event shall that rental rate
increase exceed the maximum rental rate increase permitted by subdivision (a).

(i) (1) Notwithstanding subdivision (h), this section shall apply only to rent increases for a tenancy in a
mobilehome subject to subdivision (a) occurring on or after February 18, 2021.

(2) In the event that an owner has increased the rent for a tenancy in a mobilehome by more than the amount
permissible under subdivision (a) between February 18, 2021, and January 1, 2022, both of the following shall
apply:

(A) The applicable rent on January 1, 2022, shall be the rent as of February 18, 2021, plus the maximum
permissible increase under subdivision (a).

(B) An owner shall not be liable to the tenant for any corresponding rent overpayment.

(3) An owner of residential real property subject to subdivision (a) who increased the rental rate on that
residential real property on or after February 18, 2021, but prior to January 1, 2022, by an amount less than the
rental rate increase permitted by subdivision (a) shall be allowed to increase the rental rate twice, as provided in
paragraph (2) of subdivision (a), within 12 months of February 18, 2021, but in no event shall that rental rate
increase exceed the maximum rental rate increase permitted by subdivision (a).

(j) This section shall not apply to a homeowner of a mobilehome, as defined in Section 798.9.

(k) Any waiver of the rights under this section shall be void as contrary to public policy.

(l) This section shall remain in effect until January 1, 2030, and as of that date is repealed.

(m) (1) The Legislature finds and declares that the unique circumstances of the current housing crisis require a
statewide response to address rent gouging by establishing statewide limitations on gross rental rate increases.

(2) It is the intent of the Legislature that this section should apply only for the limited time needed to address
the current statewide housing crisis, as described in paragraph (1). This section is not intended to expand or
limit the authority of local governments to establish local policies regulating rents consistent with Chapter 2.7
(commencing with Section 1954.50), nor is it a statement regarding the appropriate, allowable rental rate
increase when a local government adopts a policy regulating rent that is otherwise consistent with Chapter 2.7
(commencing with Section 1954.50).

(3) Nothing in this section authorizes a local government to establish limitations on any rental rate increases not
otherwise permissible under Chapter 2.7 (commencing with Section 1954.50), or affects the existing authority of
a local government to adopt or maintain rent controls or price controls consistent with that chapter.



Item 8.e.

















 Office of the City Manager 

Date: February 23, 2022 

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

From: Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager 

Subject: CalCHA & 2020 Kittredge Street Acquisition Information 

This memo is intended to provide an overview of the acquisition process of the California 
Community Housing Agency Middle Income Rental Housing Program (CalCHA) and the recent 
acquisition of 2020 Kittredge Street (also known as K Street Flats) using CalCHA financing. 

CalCHA Background 

CalCHA is a Joint Powers Authority (JPA) authorized by the State to issue tax-exempt bonds in 
local jurisdictions. These bonds are used to acquire market rate properties and transition them to 
deed-restricted middle-income housing for incomes ranging between 80-120% of Area Median 
Income (AMI). 

On February 23, 2021, Council adopted a resolution to join the JPA. This resolution enabled the 
City Manager to execute public benefit agreements with CalCHA for their acquisition of any 
properties within the City of Berkeley boundaries. This is necessary      as CalCHA purchases 
properties on market timelines with closing requirements and timing. CalCHA cannot acquire 
any properties without the City’s consent. 

Staff advanced the resolution to Council for several reasons, including: 

- An ongoing call by the community, commissions, and Council to serve these “missing
middle” income ranges not typically served by the City’s current affordable programs that
have qualifying incomes ranging between 30-60% AMI.

- Interest and enthusiasm from the Council, commissions, and community in considering
alternative models to bring an increasing portion of the City’s housing stock into deed
restricted affordability.

- The City is not responsible for any financial expenditures, liabilities, or obligations  for bonds
issued by CalCHA.

- The City’s Housing Trust Fund is overcommitted compared to pending affordable projects in
the pipeline, limiting the City’s ability to support future affordable housing requests via its
traditional financing practices.

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.981.7000    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510.981-7099 
E-mail: manager@ci.berkeley.ca.us

Item 9.f.



Page 2 
February 23, 2022 
Re:   CalCHA & 2020 Kittredge Street Acquisition Information 

- The City has the ability to acquire the property starting at Year 16 (assuming responsibility
for the outstanding debt) or after the bonds are paid off (in Year 30- 35 depending on the
project) with no debt. The City would then have the ability to assign the property to an
affordable developer at current or deeper income restrictions with less overhead than new
construction or acquisition (some rehabilitation funding may be beneficial). An example of
this analysis is provided below.

- Over 20 comparable Bay Area jurisdictions had joined the JPA at the time of the report, and
CalCHA had already purchased several properties in the region.

The City does forgo property tax revenue in exchange for these acquisitions. Essentially    
all deed-restricted affordable housing developments are eligible for property tax exemption. This 
occurs at all affordable properties throughout the City. 

2020 Kittredge Acquisition 
Council’s adoption of the resolution to join the JPA on February 23, 2021 gave CalCHA the go-
ahead to identify potential properties for purchase in Berkeley. On July 30, 2021, staff in HHCS 
were contacted by CalCHA and their development partner, HCF Development, to execute a 
Community Benefits Agreement for a bond issuance for the acquisition of 2020 Kittredge. This 
boilerplate agreement had been reviewed and approved by the City Attorney’s Office in advance 
of the February 2021 Council meeting  and, subsequently, HHCS worked with the City Attorney’s 
Office to execute the agreement for purchase of 2020 Kittredge. The agreement was executed 
on August 10, 2021. CalCHA completed acquisition of the property on October 7, 2021. 

2020 Kittredge is a 176-unit building, including 35 Below Market Rate (BMR) units at 60% AMI. 
The property’s recorded deed restriction allows current tenants not to be displaced from their 
units based on income. Rents for this property will range for incomes between 60%-120% AMI 
once all non-income qualifying tenants vacate. The  property manager is currently marketing 
vacant units at below market rates consistent      with the deed restriction. CalCHA will provide the 
City with copies of its annual unit compliance report. 

2020 Kittredge Analysis 
The City’s forgone property tax revenue should be considered in conjunction with the combined 
benefit of reduced rents and property acquisition option. This acquisition will provide the City a 
long-term opportunity for affordable housing acquisition at a relatively  low cost compared to 
traditional affordable financing. 

2020 Kittredge’s total property tax contribution for 2021-2022 was approximately $1.4M.                 The 
City of Berkeley’s share of this revenue totaled $210,358 for 2021-2022. Considering a simple 
2% increase per year via Prop 13 regulations, this amounts to approximately $10.5M over 35 
years to acquire a 176-unit building dedicated to affordable housing. There are no income 
restrictions following the bond period, and the City can assign and reduce rents to lower AMI 
levels should it desire. For example, following Year 35, the City could assign the building to a 
nonprofit developer and restrict rents below 60% AMI for an additional 55 years (the current 
deed restriction length for City supported projects). 

The City currently provides upfront costs for acquisition, new development, and rehabilitation. 
For comparison, on April 20, 2021, the City Council approved $24.5M for   a middle-income 
project to benefit employees of the Berkeley unified School District (BUSD). The current  
proposal is projecting 110 units at incomes ranging between 30%- 110% AMI. BUSD is currently 
conducting an income survey of its employees and has the ability to increase its cap to 120% 
AMI to meet employee needs. 



Page 3 
February 23, 2022 
Re:   CalCHA & 2020 Kittredge Street Acquisition Information 

Comparing the two middle-income strategies: the costs of the BUSD project are  approximately 
$223,000/unit upfront while 2020 Kittredge will cost the City $1,195/unit/year in foregone tax 
revenue per unit for each of 35 years. This equates to the option to acquire 2020 Kittredge for 
$59,754 per unit deferred over 35 years. The BUSD project will provide homes for households 
with incomes between 30% and 110%      of median (earning no more than $124,355 for a 
household of three people) for at least                55 years.  2020 Kittredge will provide homes for 
households with incomes between 60% and 120% of median (earning no more than $135,650 
for a household of three people) for at least 35 years. 

Future Opportunities and Next Steps 

This model is an alternative way to defer acquisition on a large rental property that the City 
could not otherwise acquire with current upfront funding costs and obligations. It is important to 
emphasize that no properties can be acquired moving forward without the  City’s consent and 
the City does not need to take any action should it choose not to further participate in CalCHA. 
The City Manager will request a closed session discussion should future opportunities with 
CalCHA arise to ensure council direction is followed on a property by property basis. 

Staff have formed a working group with other cities in Alameda County focused on CalCHA 
acquisitions and similar models that are gaining popularity. The goals of the  group are to 
facilitate knowledge sharing and explore opportunities to strengthen our  collective position. 
Many cities in Alameda County and the larger region opted to participate in CalCHA and staff 
are working to ensure the maximum benefits are delivered to our respective communities. 

cc: Paul Buddenhagen, Deputy City Manager 
LaTanya Bellow, Interim Deputy City Manager 
Lisa Warhuus, Director, Health, Housing, and Community Services 
Jenny Wong, City Auditor 
Mark Numainville, City Clerk 
Matthai Chakko, Assistant to the City Manager 



�\ * � ---_�... �\ * 
• 

m n, 

Health is 

ea/th Fai 

,F \\ 
"Keep the South Berkeley Community thriving and healthy" 

L Everyone from every "Community'' is welcome. 
.... "Thanks to service providers, merchants, non-profit contributors, 
...... 

\ , musicians and volunteers for their participation in the 

( !
Monthly Wellness Health Fair project."

t::::= JOIN US FOR A DAY OF FUN , LIVE MUSIC, FREE FOOD 

� :-and informational Wellness Care at the Historical South Berkeley Ashby Flea
L � Market for the 1st "Berkeley Community Family for Health Fair''. 

� If interested respond to Friendsofadeline@gmail.com 
� � "Committed" and the time you will arriving 

" ,, -- ' ' --- " ,, -- ' \ 

1 
Covid -19 Vaccination's by Long Life Medical 12-2 pm 

420 friendly 

If intereste respond to Friendsofadeline gmail. com 

I I itted" a�d the time you will arn · g... ._ lm 

Item 9.g.



Rent Stabilization Board 

2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT)  TDD: (510) 981-6903  FAX: (510) 981-4940 
EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info   WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent 

RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 
BUDGET & PERSONNEL COMMITTEE MEETING 

Tuesday, March 8, 2022 

5:00 p.m. 

PUBLIC ADVISORY: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE. 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e)(3), City Council Resolution 70,030-N.S., and Berkeley Rent 
Stabilization Board (Rent Board) Resolution 21-29, this meeting of the Rent Board’s Budget & Personnel 
Committee (Committee) will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference. 
Please be advised that pursuant to the Executive Order and the Shelter-in-Place Order, and to ensure the health 
and safety of the public by limiting human contact that could spread the COVID-19 virus, there will not be a 
physical meeting location available.  

To access this meeting remotely: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device by clicking on this 
URL: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83997610665?pwd=M3E0OUFRd0ZrNXEzUWxlTWxWNUEzUT09. If you 
do not wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop-down menu and click on "Rename" to 
rename yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “Raise hand” icon by rolling over the bottom 
of the screen. 

To join by phone: Dial 1-408-638-0968 and enter Webinar ID: 839 9761 0665 and Passcode: 967661. If you 
wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the 
Committee Chair. 

To submit an e-mail comment to be read aloud during Public Comment, email amueller@cityofberkeley.info 
with the Subject line in this format: “PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM FOR BUDGET & PERSONNEL 
COMMITTEE”. Please observe a 150-word limit. Time limits on public comments will apply. Written 
comments will be entered into the public record.  Email comments must be submitted to the email address 
above by 3:00 p.m. on the day of the Committee meeting in order to be included.  

Please be mindful that this will be a public meeting and all rules of procedure and decorum will apply for 
meetings conducted by teleconference or videoconference. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with Government Code Section 54953 and all current state and 
local requirements allowing public participation in meetings of legislative bodies. Any member of the public 
may attend this meeting. Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to DéSeana Williams, Executive 
Director of the Rent Board, at 510-981-7368 (981-RENT). The Committee may take action related to any 
subject listed on the Agenda. 

Item 10.a.

mailto:rent@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/rent
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83997610665?pwd=M3E0OUFRd0ZrNXEzUWxlTWxWNUEzUT09
mailto:amueller@cityofberkeley.info


Rent Stabilization Board              

RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

BUDGET & PERSONNEL COMMITTEE MEETING 

Tuesday, March 8, 2022 – 5:00 p.m. 

AGENDA 

1. Roll Call

2. Land Acknowledgment Statement:  The Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board recognizes
that the rental housing units we regulate are built on the territory of xučyun (Huchiun-
(Hooch-yoon)), the ancestral and unceded land of the Chochenyo (Cho-Chen-yo)-
speaking Ohlone (Oh-low-nee) people, the ancestors and descendants of the sovereign
Verona Band of Alameda County. This land was and continues to be of great importance
to all of the Ohlone Tribes and descendants of the Verona Band. As we begin our meeting
tonight, we acknowledge and honor the original inhabitants of Berkeley, the documented
5,000-year history of a vibrant community at the West Berkeley Shellmound, and the
Ohlone people who continue to reside in the East Bay.  We recognize that Berkeley’s
landlords and tenants have and continue to benefit from the use and occupation of this
unceded stolen land since the City of Berkeley’s incorporation in1878 and since the Rent
Stabilization Board’s creation in 1980. As stewards of the laws regulating rental
housing, it is not only vital that we recognize the history of this land, but also recognize
that the Ohlone people are present members of Berkeley and other East Bay communities
today.

3. Approval of Agenda

4. Public Comment

5. Approval of the July 8, 2021 Meeting Minutes (Attached to Agenda)

6. Approval of August 31, 2021 Meeting Minutes (Attached to Agenda)

7. Approval of February 15, 2022 Meeting Minutes (Attached to Agenda)

8. Discussion and Possible Action regarding Mid-Fiscal Year Budget Review including
Possible Changes to the Staffing Model (See attached report)

9. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding the Hiring of Consultants for Racial Equity
Work and Personnel Evaluations



Budget & Personnel Committee Agenda 
Page 3 

2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT)  TDD: (510) 981-6903  FAX: (510) 981-4940 
EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info   WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent 

10. CLOSED SESSION: Public Employee Evaluation of Performance pursuant to
California Government Code Section 54957(b)(1).

Title: Executive Director

11. Future Agenda Items

12. Scheduling of Next Meeting

13. Adjournment

STAFF CONTACT:  DéSeana Williams, Executive Director   (510) 981-7368 

COMMITTEE:  James Chang (Chair), John Selawsky, Leah Simon-Weisberg, Dominique Walker 

mailto:rent@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/rent


 

Rent Stabilization Board 

2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT)  TDD: (510) 981-6903  FAX: (510) 981-4940 
EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info   WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent 

RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 
LEGISLATION, IRA / AGA & REGISTRATION COMMITTEE MEETING 

Wednesday, March 9, 2022 

5:00 p.m. 

PUBLIC ADVISORY: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE. 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e)(3), City Council Resolution 70,030-N.S., and Berkeley Rent 
Stabilization Board (Rent Board) Resolution 21-29, this meeting of the Rent Board’s Legislation, IRA/AGA 
& Registration Committee (Committee) will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom 
videoconference. Please be advised that pursuant to the Resolution and the findings contained therein that the 
spread of COVID-19 continues to be a threat to the public health and that holding meetings of City legislative 
bodies in person would present imminent risks to the health and safety of the public and members of 
legislative bodies. Therefore, there will not be a physical meeting location available. 

To access this meeting remotely: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device by clicking on this 
URL: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89888378508?pwd=d05CMXJUZFptMFN3NkdoQW05SU92QT09. . If you 
do not wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop-down menu and click on "Rename" to 
rename yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “Raise hand” icon by rolling over the bottom 
of the screen. 

To join by phone: Dial 1-408 638 0968 and enter Webinar ID: 898 8837 8508 and Passcode: 109179. If you 
wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the 
Committee Chair. 

To submit an e-mail comment to be read aloud during Public Comment, email mbrown@cityofberkeley.info 
with the Subject line in this format: “PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM FOR LIRA COMMITTEE”. Please observe 
a 150-word limit. Time limits on public comments will apply. Written comments will be entered into the 
public record.  Email comments must be submitted to the email address above by 3:00 p.m. on the day of the 
Committee meeting in order to be included.  

Please be mindful that this will be a public meeting and all rules of procedure and decorum will apply for 
meetings conducted by teleconference or videoconference. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with Government Code Section 54953 and all current state and 
local requirements allowing public participation in meetings of legislative bodies. Any member of the public 
may attend this meeting. Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to DéSeana Williams, Executive 
Director of the Rent Board, at 510-981-7368 (981-RENT). The Committee may take action related to any 
subject listed on the Agenda. 

Item 10.c.

mailto:rent@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/rent
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89888378508?pwd=d05CMXJUZFptMFN3NkdoQW05SU92QT09
mailto:mbrown@cityofberkeley.info


Rent Stabilization Board    

RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

LEGISLATION, IRA / AGA & REGISTRATION COMMITTEE MEETING 

Wednesday, March 9, 2022 – 5:00 p.m. 

AGENDA 

1. Roll call

2. Approval of the agenda

3. Land Acknowledgment Statement:  The Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board recognizes that
the rental housing units we regulate are built on the territory of xučyun (Huchiun-(Hooch-
yoon)), the ancestral and unceded land of the Chochenyo (Cho-chen-yo)-speaking Ohlone
(Oh-low-nee) people, the ancestors and descendants of the sovereign Verona Band of
Alameda County. This land was and continues to be of great importance to all of the Ohlone
Tribes and descendants of the Verona Band. As we begin our meeting tonight, we
acknowledge and honor the original inhabitants of Berkeley, the documented 5,000-year
history of a vibrant community at the West Berkeley Shellmound, and the Ohlone people
who continue to reside in the East Bay.  We recognize that Berkeley’s landlords and tenants
have and continue to benefit from the use and occupation of this unceded stolen land since
the City of Berkeley’s incorporation in1878 and since the Rent Stabilization Board’s creation
in 1980. As stewards of the laws regulating rental housing, it is not only vital that we
recognize the history of this land, but also recognize that the Ohlone people are present
members of Berkeley and other East Bay communities today.

4. Approval of minutes from the February 9, 2022 meeting (Attached to agenda)

5. Public Comment

6. Chair Report

7. Discussion and possible action regarding potential 2022 ballot initiatives to amend the
Berkeley Rent Ordinance (See attached staff report)

8. Discussion and possible action regarding future agenda items

9. Confirm next meeting date

10. Adjournment

STAFF CONTACT:  Matt Brown, General Counsel     (510) 981-4930 

 COMMITTEE:  Soli Alpert, Xavier Johnson, Andy Kelley (Chair), Leah Simon-Weisberg 



2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT)  TDD: (510) 981-6903  FAX: (510) 981-4940 
EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info   WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent 

Rent Stabilization Board 

RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 
OUTREACH COMMITTEE MEETING 

Wednesday, March 16, 2022 

  5:15 p.m. 

PUBLIC ADVISORY: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE. 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e)(3), City Council Resolution 70,030-N.S., and Berkeley Rent 
Stabilization Board (Rent Board) Resolution 21-29, this meeting of the Rent Board’s Outreach Committee 
(Committee) will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference. Please be 
advised that pursuant to the Resolution and the findings contained therein that the spread of COVID-19 
continues to be a threat to the public health and that holding meetings of City legislative bodies in person 
would present imminent risks to the health and safety of the public and members of legislative bodies. 
Therefore, there will not be a physical meeting location available. 

To access this meeting remotely: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device by clicking on this 
URL: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/86942068044?pwd=V3ZCQk9tUWoxQUsxUmVMNjdqYlpmdz09. If you 
do not wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop-down menu and click on "Rename" to 
rename yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “Raise hand” icon by rolling over the bottom 
of the screen. 

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-6833, enter Webinar ID: 869 4206 8044 and Passcode: 218768.  If you 
wish to comment during the Public Comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by 
the Committee Chair. 

To submit an e-mail comment to be read aloud during Public Comment, email mlaw@cityofberkeley.info 
with the Subject line in this format: “PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM FOR OUTREACH COMMITTEE”. 
Please observe a 150-word limit. Time limits on public comments will apply. Written comments will be 
entered into the public record.  Email comments must be submitted to the email address above by 3:15 p.m. 
on the day of the Committee meeting in order to be included.  

Please be mindful that this will be a public meeting and all other rules of procedure and decorum will apply 
for meetings conducted by teleconference or videoconference. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with Government Code Section 54953 and all current state 
and local requirements allowing public participation in meetings of legislative bodies. Any member of the 
public may attend this meeting. Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to DéSeana Williams, 
Executive Director, at (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT). The Committee may take action related to any subject 
listed on the Agenda. 

Item 10.d.

mailto:rent@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/rent
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/86942068044?pwd=V3ZCQk9tUWoxQUsxUmVMNjdqYlpmdz09
mailto:mlaw@cityofberkeley.info


Rent Stabilization Board

RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 
OUTREACH COMMITTEE MEETING 

Wednesday, March 16, 2022 – 5:15 p.m. 

AGENDA   

1. Roll call (2 min) 

2. Land Acknowledgment Statement:  The Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board recognizes
that the rental housing units we regulate are built on the territory of xučyun (Huchiun-
(Hooch-yoon)), the ancestral and unceded land of the Chochenyo (Cho-chen-yo)-
speaking Ohlone (Oh-low-nee) people, the ancestors and descendants of the sovereign
Verona Band of Alameda County. This land was and continues to be of great importance
to all of the Ohlone Tribes and descendants of the Verona Band. As we begin our meeting
tonight, we acknowledge and honor the original inhabitants of Berkeley, the documented
5,000-year history of a vibrant community at the West Berkeley Shellmound, and the
Ohlone people who continue to reside in the East Bay.  We recognize that Berkeley’s
landlords and tenants have and continue to benefit from the use and occupation of this
unceded stolen land since the City of Berkeley’s incorporation in 1878 and since the Rent
Stabilization Board’s creation in 1980. As stewards of the laws regulating rental
housing, it is not only vital that we recognize the history of this land, but also recognize
that the Ohlone people are present members of Berkeley and other East Bay communities
today.

3. Approval of the Agenda (2 min) 

4. New Staff Member: PIU Manager Nathan Dahl (5 min) 

5. Approval of the minutes of the February 16, 2022 meeting (5 min) 

6. Public Comment (5 min) 

7. Discussion/possible action regarding Social Media (10 min) 

8. Discussion/possible action regarding 2022 Tenant Survey (20 min) 
a. Staff Report on Vendor Contract, SSRC, CSU Fullerton
b. Pre-Survey Mailing Outreach and a Press Release
c. Topics to Cover: COVID-19 Impacts, Climate, Impact of Short Term

Rentals, Displacement by OMI or Ellis, Tenant Buyouts



March 16, 2022 Outreach Committee Agenda 
Page 3 

d. Demographics to examine: LGBTQ added to tenant population, displacement of
Black, Brown or Indigenous tenants (examine causes)

9. Discussion/possible action regarding the Fair Chance Ordinance (5 min) 

10. Staff Report on Status of Eviction Moratorium/Ellis Act (5 min) 

11. Discussion/possible action regarding Emergency Rental Assistance (5 min) 

(COVID impacts; EDC and EBCLC update)

12. Staff Report: Recent and Upcoming Webinars, Workshops (5 min) 

13. Schedule Next Meeting Date (2 min) 

14. Future Agenda Items (5 min) 

15. Adjournment (2 min) 

STAFF CONTACT:  Moni T. Law, Housing Counselor (510) 981-4906, Ext. 704 

    COMMITTEE:  James Chang, Andy Kelley, Paola Laverde (Chair), Mari Mendonca 



4x4 Committee on Housing 
City Council and Rent Board 

4 X 4 JOINT COMMITTEE ON HOUSING 
CITY COUNCIL/RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

Wednesday, February 23, 2022 – 3:00 p.m. 

PUBLIC ADVISORY: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE. 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e)(3), City Council Resolution 70,030-N.S., and Rent Board 
Resolution 21-29, this meeting of the City Council and Rent Stabilization Board’s 4 x 4 Joint Committee on 
Housing (Committee) will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference. 
Please be advised that pursuant to the Resolutions and the findings contained therein that the spread of 
COVID-19 continues to be a threat to the public health and that holding meetings of City legislative bodies in 
person would present imminent risks to the health and safety of the public and members of legislative 
bodies. Therefore, there will not be a physical meeting location available. 

To access this meeting remotely: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device by clicking on this 
URL: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89750806233?pwd=Q2lQMVQzUER2SGRqd0VrUGp6di82UT09. If you do 
not wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop-down menu and click on "Rename" to 
rename yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “Raise hand” icon by rolling over the bottom 
of the screen. 

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 and enter Webinar ID: 897 5080 6233 and Passcode: 073996. If you 
wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the 
Committee Chair. 

To submit an e-mail comment to be read aloud during Public Comment, email btran@cityofberkeley.info with 
the Subject line in this format: “PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM FOR 4 X 4 COMMITTEE”. Please observe a 150- 
word limit. Time limits on public comments will apply. Written comments will be entered into the public record. 
Email comments must be submitted to the email address above by 1:00 p.m. on the day of the Committee 
meeting in order to be included. 

Please be mindful that this will be a public meeting and all rules of procedure and decorum will apply for 
meetings conducted by teleconference or videoconference. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with Government Code Section 54953 and all current state and 
local requirements allowing public participation in meetings of legislative bodies. Any member of the public 
may attend this meeting. Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to DéSeana Williams, Executive 
Director of the Rent Board, at (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT). The Committee may take action related to any 
subject listed on the Agenda.

Item 10.f.

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89750806233?pwd=Q2lQMVQzUER2SGRqd0VrUGp6di82UT09
mailto:btran@cityofberkeley.info


4x4 Committee on Housing  
City Council and Rent Board

2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT)  TDD: (510) 981-6903  FAX: (510) 981-4940 
EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info   WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent 

AGENDA 

4 X 4 JOINT COMMITTEE ON HOUSING 
CITY COUNCIL/RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

Wednesday, February 23, 2022 – 3:00 p.m. 

1. Roll call

2. Land Acknowledgment Statement: The Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board recognizes that the
rental housing units we regulate are built on the territory of xučyun (Huchiun-(Hooch-yoon)),
the ancestral and unceded land of the Chochenyo (Cho-chen-yo)-speaking Ohlone (Oh-low-
nee) people, the ancestors and descendants of the sovereign Verona Band of Alameda
County. This land was and continues to be of great importance to all of the Ohlone Tribes
and descendants of the Verona Band. As we begin our meeting tonight, we acknowledge and
honor the original inhabitants of Berkeley, the documented 5,000-year history of a vibrant
community at the West Berkeley Shellmound, and the Ohlone people who continue to reside
in the East Bay.  We recognize that Berkeley’s landlords and tenants have and continue to
benefit from the use and occupation of this unceded stolen land since the City of Berkeley’s
incorporation in1878 and since the Rent Stabilization Board’s creation in 1980. As stewards
of the laws regulating rental housing, it is not only vital that we recognize the history of this
land, but also recognize that the Ohlone people are present members of Berkeley and other
East Bay communities today.

3. Approval of the agenda

4. Public comment on non-agenda matters

5. Approval of January 11, 2022 Committee meeting minutes

6. Update on Measure MM registry expansion (Rent Board Staff)

7. Discussion regarding potential for adding more rent controlled units under CA Civil Code
Section 1954.52(b) (requested by Vice-Chair Alpert)

8. Discussion regarding welfare exemption policy (requested by Chair Simon-Weisberg, see
attachment)

9. Discussion and possible action to consider remedies for situations where landlords
unilaterally change keyed entries to keyless entries and tenants are not able to use the new
method of access (requested by Chair Simon-Weisberg)

10. Quick updates on previously discussed items
a. Update regarding Relocation Ordinance and suggested additions from previous

discussion regarding Tenant Habitability Plan Ordinance

11. Adjournment

mailto:rent@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/rent


4 x 4 Joint Committee on Housing Agenda – February 23, 2022 
Page 3 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS:  
Mayor Jesse Arreguín  Rent Board Chairperson Leah Simon-Weisberg 
City Councilmember Kate Harrison Rent Board Vice-Chairperson Soli Alpert 
City Councilmember Rigel Robinson Rent Board Commissioner Xavier Johnson 
City Councilmember Terry Taplin Rent Board Commissioner Andy Kelley 



4x4 Committee on Housing 
City Council and Rent Board 

4 X 4 JOINT COMMITTEE ON HOUSING 
CITY COUNCIL/RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

Tuesday, January 11, 2022 – 3:00 p.m. 

PUBLIC ADVISORY: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE. 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54953(e)(3), City Council Resolution 70,030-N.S., and Rent Board 
Resolution 21-29, this meeting of the City Council and Rent Stabilization Board’s 4 x 4 Joint Committee on 
Housing (Committee) will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference. 
Please be advised that pursuant to the Resolutions and the findings contained therein that the spread of 
COVID-19 continues to be a threat to the public health and that holding meetings of City legislative bodies in 
person would present imminent risks to the health and safety of the public and members of legislative 
bodies. Therefore, there will not be a physical meeting location available. 

To access this meeting remotely: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device by clicking on this 
URL: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81526431015?pwd=cUFSZFp6ektjUTdqYnZJaXZLTWZoQT09. If you do not 
wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the drop-down menu and click on "Rename" to rename 
yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “Raise hand” icon by rolling over the bottom of the 
screen. 

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-6833 and enter Webinar ID: 815 2643 1015 and Passcode: 599186. If you 
wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the 
Committee Chair. 

To submit an e-mail comment to be read aloud during public comment, email btran@cityofberkeley.info with 
the Subject Line in this format: “PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM FOR 4 X 4 COMMITTEE”. Please observe a 150- 
word limit. Time limits on public comments will apply. Written comments will be entered into the public record. 
Email comments must be submitted to the email address above by 1:00 p.m. on the day of the Committee 
meeting in order to be included. 

Please be mindful that this will be a public meeting and all rules of procedure and decorum will apply for 
meetings conducted by teleconference or videoconference. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with Government Code Section 54953 and all current state and 
local requirements allowing public participation in meetings of legislative bodies. Any member of the public 
may attend this meeting. Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to DéSeana Williams, Executive 
Director of the Rent Board, at (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT). The Committee may take action related to any 
subject listed on the Agenda. 

Item 5.

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81526431015?pwd=cUFSZFp6ektjUTdqYnZJaXZLTWZoQT09
mailto:btran@cityofberkeley.info


2125 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  TEL: (510) 981-7368 (981-RENT)  TDD: (510) 981-6903  FAX: (510) 981-4940 
EMAIL: rent@cityofberkeley.info   WEB: www.cityofberkeley.info/rent 

City Council and Rent Board 

4 X 4 JOINT COMMITTEE ON HOUSING 
CITY COUNCIL/RENT STABILIZATION BOARD 

Tuesday, January 11, 2022 – 3:00 p.m. 

Minutes To Be Approved 

1. Roll Call: Mayor Arreguín called the meeting to order at 3:03 p.m.
Present: RBC Alpert, Mayor Arreguín, CM Harrison (logged off at 5:06 p.m.), RBC Johnson,
RBC Kelley, CM Robinson, RB Chair Simon-Weisberg, CM Taplin.
Absent: None.
Staff present: Matt Brown, Lief Bursell, Angie Chen, Nate Dahl, Stefan Elgstrand, Margot
Ernst, Jen Fabish, J.T. Harechmak, Jordan Klein, David Lopez, Matthew Siegel, Be Tran,
DéSeana Williams.

2. Approval of the Agenda: M/S/C (Robison/Johnson) Approve the agenda as written.  YES:
Alpert, Arreguín, Harrison, Johnson, Kelley, Robinson, Simon-Weisberg, Taplin; NO: None;
ABSTAIN: None; ABSENT: None.  Carried: 8-0-0-0.

3. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters: One speaker (who spoke on a non-agenda matter
following item 6.)  

4. Approval of October 27, 2021 Committee Meeting Minutes: M/S/C (Harrison/Alpert) Approve
the minutes as written. YES: Alpert, Arreguín, Harrison, Johnson, Kelley, Robinson, Simon-
Weisberg, Taplin; NO: None; ABSTAIN: None; ABSENT: None.  Carried: 8-0-0-0.

5. Introduction of New Executive Director of the Berkeley Rent Stabilization Board: DéSeana
Williams: RBC Simon-Weisberg introduced Ms. Williams, who made brief comments and was
welcomed by committee members.

6. Discussion of Relocation Ordinance and Possible Amendments (Vice Chair Alpert): Vice
Chair Alpert introduced the item.  Nathan Dahl from the Health, Housing, and Community
Services Department, and David Lopez and Jordan Klein from the Planning Department
offered perspectives on current administration practices. The committee discussed, amongst
other things, clarifying who can trigger the Ordinance and tenant appeal rights.  Staff will
meet to discuss these and other issues raised during the discussion.  The committee
requested a memorandum in follow-up.

mailto:rent@cityofberkeley.info
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/rent


There was one public speaker on this item, who also spoke on a non-agenda matter.  

7. Evaluation of City Laws Affecting Tenants During Construction and Suggested Additions from
Tenant Habitability Plan Ordinance (Presentation and Memo from Mayor Arreguín and Chair 
Simon-Weisberg): Mayor Arreguín and RB Chair Simon Weisberg presented.  The committee 
discussed the potential of a local Habitability Plan Ordinance, and intersections with 
previously discussed Relocation Ordinance issues.  Rent Board staff attorney Matthew Siegel 
proposed possible pathways forward.  The committee discussed a working group approach, 
and will prepare a recommendation for Council to be voted on by the committee at the next 
meeting.  Rent Board General Counsel Matt Brown offered support from the Rent Board’s 
legal unit in preparing the item. 

There was one public speaker. 

8. Establish 2022 Meeting Dates: The committee agreed by consensus to continue meeting on
the fourth Wednesday of each month at 3:00 p.m.  The next meeting is scheduled for
February 23.

9. Quick Updates on Previously Discussed Items: There were no updates and no public
speakers.  

10. Discussion of Possible Future Agenda Items
a. Elevator Ordinance Update (requested by Chair Simon-Weisberg)
b. First in Time Standard Update Related to Source of Income Ordinance (requested by

Kelley)
c. Discussion on Potential for Adding More Rent Controlled Units Under CA Civil Code

Section 1954.52(b) (requested by Alpert)

CM Harrison requested a Measure MM update, if not at the February meeting then in March. 
The committee asked for an update on Demolition Ordinance Amendments.  RBC Alpert 
requested an update on the discussions staff have related to item 6. 

11. Adjournment: M/S/C (Arreguín/Robinson) Motion to adjourn. YES: Alpert, Arreguín, Johnson,
Kelley, Robinson, Simon-Weisberg, Taplin; No: None; Abstain: None; ABSENT: Harrison.
Carried: 7-0-0-1.  The meeting adjourned at 5:10 p.m.

COMMITTEE MEMBERS:  
Mayor Jesse Arreguín  Rent Board Chairperson Leah Simon-Weisberg 
City Councilmember Kate Harrison Rent Board Vice-Chairperson Soli Alpert 
City Councilmember Rigel Robinson Rent Board Commissioner Xavier Johnson 
City Councilmember Terry Taplin Rent Board Commissioner Andy Kelley 



��������������	
 ������������������������������������������������������������������� ���!

���������"������������"��!��#���#�������������$�������$��������$�$����$����$������ ���

%&'()*+�,�-./.0&12.*34567�89�:7;<7=7>�?@=A8B>�A8==@CD7�D8=EF�G56H�C;8I5D7�89@J8;E@?=7�H8KD5BLM�NOPQQO�RSTOU�VTU�WXYQOSZ�[XP\]TUQ̂�STUO�_TSS�̀Z�Ta�b̀U\XPQ�cQaOPTS�dTSSQZ�]bXUYae�TeQa\ZO]TO�bVaU�UQfQPTS�gTZ�hPQT�T[TPOiQaO�̀XYŜYaeUjgZ�kY\b�NTfŶeQl�RQ̀j�mnl�opool�q�Tjij
rst�u�vwxttw�yz{w|�{}{xw~t�w���~}zt��{w������u�wwxt��tvw���{|����twz��}�x�s{|t��z{|w��{zz����{�s��|����{�t������wst��t�wx{z��{zzt��ws{w�����txw|�~{x�tw�x{wt�{}{xw~t�w|w���~�||����~���zt��{��x�{�zt�s��|������xt��w��utzz�v�zz��{��]Q�̂bVaObVa�gQP�QSQZ�T[TPOiQaO�\bi[SQ��V]QPQ�UY��PYU]�UOX̂QaOU�̂YQ̂�Ya�T�opm��̀TS\baZ�\bSST[UQ�]TUWXYQOSZ�̀Q\biQ�[TPO�b_�Ta�QiQPeYae�Tâ�\baOPbfQPUYTST�bP̂T̀SQ�]bXUYae�UOPTOQeZjM�NOPQQO�RSTOUl�O]Q�m�� XaYO�̂QfQSb[iQaO�_bPiQPSZ�abVa�TU�¡ỲPTPZ�¢TP̂QaUl�VTU�UbŜ�STUO�_TSS�Ob�Tab̀U\XPQ�[X̀SY\�TeQa\Z�̀TUQ̂�Ya�O]Q�cQaOPTS�dTSSQZ�O]TO[SQ̂eQU�Ob�[PbfŶQ�]bXUYae�_bP�VbP�QPU�V]b�TPQ�b£Qa[PY\Q̂�bXO�b_�Q�[QaUYfQ�\YOYQU�UX\]�TU�gQP�QSQZjcTSSQ̂�O]Q�cTSY_bPaYT�cbiiXaYOZ�¤bXUYae�heQa\Zl�bPcTSc¤hl�YO�XUQU�iXaY\Y[TS�̀bâU�Ob�̀XZ�iTP�QO PTOQT[TPOiQaO�̀XYŜYaeUl�O]Qa�b�QPU�PQaO�̂YU\bXaOU�Ob�iT�QO]QYP�XaYOU�T�bP̂T̀SQ�Ob�OQaTaOU�V]b�_TSS�YaOb�O]Q¥ib̂QPTOQ¦�Ya\biQ�PTaeQ�§�T�\TOQebPZ�O]TO�Ya�gQP�QSQZYa\SX̂QU�UbiQ�V]b�iT�Q�X[VTP̂U�b_�̈mpplppp�[QP�ZQTPj�]Q�TeQa\Z�YU�baQ�b_�O]PQQ�©bYaO�[bVQPU�TXO]bPYOYQU�O]TO

]TfQ�̀bXe]O�̂bªQaU�b_�̀XYŜYaeU�TPbXâ�O]Q�UOTOQ�YaPQ\QaO�ZQTPU�Ob�[PbfŶQ�¥iYUUYae�iŶ ŜQ¦�]biQU�_bPOQT\]QPUl�«PQ«e]OQPU�Tâ�bO]QPU�V]b�\Ta¬O�T�bP̂iTP�QO PTOQ�T[TPOiQaOUl�̀XO�iT�Q�Obb�iX\]�Ob�WXTSY_Z_bP�SbVQP Ya\biQ�XaYOU�O]TO�TPQ�b£Qa�O]Q�_b\XU�b_�Q�bPOUOb�̀XYŜ�T�bP̂T̀SQ�]bXUYaej¥�O¬U�UbSfYae�_bP�T�_TYSXPQ�b_�O]Q�iTP�QO�PYe]O�abV�ObQ̂SYfQP�O]Q�]bXUYae�O]TO�VQ�VYU]�VTU�eQOOYae�̀XYSOl¦�gQaQO\TS_l�iTaTeYae�̂YPQ\ObP�b_�O]Q��QPaQP�cQaOQP�_bP¤bXUYae��aabfTOYba�TO�®c�gQP�QSQZl�UTŶ�b_�O]Q�TeQa\Z¬UUOPTOQeZj�]Q�gQP�QSQZ�cYOZ�cbXa\YS�fbOQ̂�Ob�©bYa�cTSc¤h�STUOZQTPj�hU�T�PQUXSOl�O]Q�\YOZ�\bXŜ�baQ�̂TZ�bVa�M�NOPQQORSTOU�§�ebfQPaiQaOU�O]TO�[TPOaQP�VYO]�O]Q�TeQa\Z�]TfQO]Q�b[OYba�Ob�T\WXYPQ�YOU�̀XYŜYaeU�̂XPYae�O]Q�STOOQP�]TS_b_�O]Q�np ZQTP�̀bâU�XUQ̂�Ob�_Xâ�O]QYP�[XP\]TUQUjQ̄aOU�TO�O]Q�opop�MYOOPQ̂eQ�NOj�\bi[SQ��]TfQ�_TSSQa�UYa\QO]Q�aQV�bVaQPU�Obb��bfQPj�gXO�QO\TS_�Tâ�bO]QPU�UTZYO¬U�abO�TSVTZU�\SQTP�O]TO�\YOYQU�eQO�T�ebb̂�̂QTS�_Pbi�O]QYP[TPOaQPU]Y[U�VYO]�cTSc¤hl�̀Q\TXUQ�YOU�̂YU\bXaOU�\biQTO�O]Q�\bUO�b_�PQibfYae�T[TPOiQaO�̀XYŜYaeU�_Pbi�Sb\TS[Pb[QPOZ�OT��PbSSUj

Item 8.



��������������	
 ������������������������������������������������������������������� ���!

���������"������������"��!��#���#�������������$�������$��������$�$����$����$������ ���

%�&'())'�*+,'-�').,.'�/+)0�1)().234�-5,()6�'57-�898:;53'3�3<�,�;,('7,++=�>3++,;-)6�<+33(�7.�,.3'5)(�').,.'?-,;,('@).'A�B()67'C�/+)0�1)().234DEF�GHIE�GHIJIKL�GHI�MNILGOPE�PQ�RHIGHIJ�SIJTIUIVLHPNUF�GWTI�PXIJ�PEI�PQ�GHI�YOGVKL�ZPLG�EPGPJOPNL[NOUFOE\L�]�W�LGJNYGNJI�RHIJI�FIQIYGL�OE�GHIYPELGJNYGOPE�PQ�OGL�[WUYPEOIL̂�RHOYH�UIF�GP�GHI�FIWFUVYPUUW_LÎ�_JPZ_GIF�LGWGI�JI\NUWGPJL�GP�JIXPTI�GHIUOYIELI�PQ�GHI�YPEGJWYGPJ�RHP�[NOUG�OG̀aHI�GJW\IFV�WULP�UIF�GP�EIR�LGWGI�UWRL�JIMNOJOE\OEL_IYGOPEL�PQ�[WUYPEOIL�WEF�Ib_WEFOE\�WYYILL�GPYPEGJWYGPJ�JIYPJFL̂�WEF�W�_UWMNI�HPEPJOE\�GHI�LOb_IP_UI�RHP�FOIF�OE�GHI�YPUUW_LI�EPR�LGWEFL�OE�cOXOYcIEGIJ�dWJT̀�DE�OEQPJZWU�YHWUT�ZIZPJOWU�WULP�PYYN_OILW�_WGYH�PQ�GHI�LOFIRWUT�PNGLOFI�e�fGJIIG�gUWGL̂�WEFOEYUNFIL�W�LIXIEGH�EWZI�]�DPOQI�SIWJV̂�RHP�RWLLIJOPNLUV�OEhNJIF�OE�GHI�ijkl�YPUUW_LI�WEF�FOIF�WG�im�OEnWENWJV�QPUUPROE\�W�LGJPTÌdJP[UIZL�WG�GHI�YPZ_UIb̂�RHOYH�RWL�YPZ_UIGIF�OE�ijjm̂HWXI�YPEGOENIF�PXIJ�GHI�VIWJL̂�WYYPJFOE\�GP�UPE\oGOZIGIEWEG�DUIb�pIJIETPX̂�RHP�HWL�YPZ_UWOEIF�GP�YOGVPqYOWUL�W[PNG�W�JWE\I�PQ�OLLNIL�ROGH�GHI�[NOUFOE\̂

OEYUNFOE\�GHI�_WJGOWU�YPUUW_LI�PQ�WEPGHIJ�JIEGIJKL[IFJPPZ�rPPJ�UWLG�L_JOE\̀stPEI�PQ�NL�TEPR�GP�RHWG�FI\JII�GHOL�_JP_IJGV�OL�\POE\GP�HPUF�N_̂u�pIJIETPX�LWOF̀�svQ�v�RWL�GHI�YOGV̂�v�RPNUF_JP[W[UV�EPG�[NV�GHOL�_JP_IJGV̀uwxy�zy{x|�}~���|x{���z|�z�x|��x��{}z�x��x{�{��cWUc�D�OL�PqYOWUUV�_WJG�PQ�GHI�\PXIJEZIEG�PQ�eOE\LcPNEGV̂�[NG�ZWEV�PQ�GHI�_JP_IJGOIL�OG�PREL�WJI�QWJ�QJPZGHI�W\IEYVKL�HIWFMNWJGIJL�OE��WEQPJF̀�fOEYI�ijk�̂�OG�HWL[PN\HG�W_WJGZIEG�[NOUFOE\L�OE��WJTL_NĴ�fWNLWUOGP̂�N[UOÊ�fWEGW��PLW�WEF�PGHIJ�SWV�DJIW�YOGOIL̀pIGYWUQ�LWOF�cWUc�D�WEF�GRP�PGHIJ�IEGOGOIL̂�GHIcWUOQPJEOW�pNEOYO_WU�gOEWEYI�DNGHPJOGV�WEF�GHIcWUOQPJEOW�fGWGIROFI�cPZZNEOGOIL��IXIUP_ZIEGDNGHPJOGV̂�HWXI�IZIJ\IF�WL�_UWVIJL�OE�GHI�LGWGIKLHPNLOE\�UWEFLYW_I�PXIJ�GHI�_WLG�GHJII�VIWJL̀�aHIOJ_NJYHWLIL�sJIWUUV�GPPT�P�u�OE�ijik̂�pIGYWUQ�LWOF̂�RHIEHOLGPJOYWUUV�UPRoOEGIJILG�JWGIL�ZWFI�GHIOJ�GWboIbIZ_GZNEOYO_WU�[PEFL�IL_IYOWUUV�WGGJWYGOXÌcWUc�D�[PN\HG�e�fGJIIG�gUWGL�QJPZ�GHI�JIWU�ILGWGIOEXILGZIEG��JZ�SUWYT�PYT̂�RHOYH�HWF�PREIF�OG�LOEYIijjm̀aHI�eOE\L�cPNEGV�SPWJF�PQ�fN_IJXOLPJL̂�RHOYHQNEYGOPEL�WL�GHI�W\IEYVKL�[PWJF�PQ�FOJIYGPJL̂�W__JPXIFGHI�FIWU�GP�[NV�e�fGJIIG�gUWGL�WG�WE�DN\̀��k�ZIIGOE\�GHWGUWLGIF�UILL�GHWE�GHJII�ZOENGIL��cWUc�D�WEEPNEYIF�OGL_NJYHWLI�OE�W�PEIoLIEGIEYI�_JILL�JIUIWLI�PE��YG̀�m̂LGWGOE\�OG�HWF�_WJGEIJIF�ROGH�W��JZ�YWUUIF��cg�IXIUP_ZIEG�GP�OLLNI��kim�ZOUUOPE�RPJGH�PQ�[PEFL�QPJGHI�WYMNOLOGOPÈ��IWU�ILGWGI�EIRL�RI[LOGI�aHI��I\OLGJVJI_PJGIF�GHI�YPZ_UIb�LPUF�QPJ��kjj�ZOUUOPÈcNJJIEG�GIEWEGL�ZWV�LGWV�WL�UPE\�WL�GHIV�ROLH�NEFIJcWUc�DKL�PREIJLHO_̂�WEF�GHI�LWUI�FPILEKG�W�IYG�IbOLGOE\[IUPR�ZWJTIG�JWGI�NEOGL̂�RHOYH�ZWTI�N_�ij��PQ�e�fGJIIGgUWGLK�W_WJGZIEGL̀�DL�GIEWEGL�ZPXI�PNG�WEF�GHIYPZ_UIbKL�QPJZIJUV�ZWJTIG�JWGI�W_WJGZIEGL�GNJE�PXIĴGHPN\Ĥ�OEYPZI�YW_L�JIMNOJI�GHWG�EIR�JIEGIJL�ZWTI[IGRIIE��j��WEF�kij��PQ�WJIW�ZIFOWE�OEYPZÌSIJTIUIVKL�WJIW�ZIFOWE�OEYPZI�OL�hNLG�PXIJ���l̂jjĵ�LPGHWG�JWE\I�YPXIJL�OEFOXOFNWUL�IWJEOE\�WEVRHIJI�QJPZ�mm̂jjj�GP��kkl̂jjj�WEENWUUV̀



��������������	
 ������������������������������������������������������������������� ���!

���������"������������"��!��#���#�������������$�������$��������$�$����$����$������ ���

%�&'())*�+,-./'()�'0'./+()�1.�120�3+41+'&�.-�120�56789()4.,:�4.))(;&0�.44<;+0&�(�;(142�.-�;(30'0,1�.<1&+=0�>?1/001�@)(1&*�120�&+10�.-�120�1/(A0=:B�%�&030,12�,('0�C(&(==0=�1.�120�'0'./+()�C20,�5DE:0(/E.)=�%.+-0�F0(/:*C2.�C(&�+,G</0=�+,�120�4.))(;&0*�=+0=�+,�H(,<(/:B�I/0=+1J>0)):�?<))+3(,K�LMNOOM�PQRMST�UOVSWMO�MXYRZ�QWSMS�X[O\�R[Y�MUX\VOYNXX][̂WMS�R_RWQRVQO�MX�NO[M�̀NX]�abcdeb�MX�abcfff�gON�]X[MhijUX�VQXklS�RURZc�SM̂YWX�̂[WMS�RM�mRNSWMZ�nONlOQOZc�RkX]gQOo�MhRM�XgO[OY�W[�bpqrc�SMRNM�RM�adcbpp�gON�]X[Mhst_O�ZORNS�RuXc�nONlOQOZSWYO�NOgXNMOY�NO[MS�RM�K�LMNOOMPQRMS�NR[uOY�̀NX]�abcffr�MX�aecppp�gON�]X[MhivX�X[O�̀NX]�wRQwxy�XN�xwP�zO_OQXg]O[Mc�UhWkh�QWSMS�R{RShW[uMX[c�ziwic�ghX[O�[̂]VON�X[�WMS�UOVSWMOcNOSgX[YOY�MX�] Q̂MWgQO�NO|̂OSMS�̀XN�kX]]O[M�̀NX]nONlOQOZSWYOiwWMZ�X̀�nONlOQOZ�X}kWRQS�YOkQW[OY�R[�W[MON_WOU�NO|̂OSMX̀N�MhWS�SMXNZi�n̂M�W[�NOSgX[SO�MX�UNWMMO[�|̂OSMWX[ScSO[WXN�kX]] [̂WMZ�YO_OQXg]O[M�gNX~OkM�kXXNYW[RMXN�WlO��VONMW�YOSkNWVOY�wRQwxyTS�Rk|̂WSWMWX[�SMNRMOuZ�RSR�kX]gQO]O[M�MX�]XNO�kX[_O[MWX[RQ�O�XNMS�MX�V̂WQY�[OUR�XNYRVQO�hX̂SW[u���UhWkh�kR[�X�O[�VO�R�QX[u�R[YOogO[SW_O�gNXkOSSi��[�bpqfc�MhO�nRZ�yNOR�wX̂[kWQ�kX[X]Wk��[SMWM̂MO�OSMW]RMOY�MhRM�V̂WQYW[u�R�XNYRVQOhX̂SW[u�W[�yQR]OYR�wX̂[MZ�kXSM�]XNO�MhR[�a�ppcppp�gON[̂WM�X[�R_ONRuOi�jZgWkRQQZc�WM�WS�QOSS�kXSMQZ�R[Y�MRlOS�QOSS�MW]O�MX�Rk|̂WNOR[Y�kX[_ONM�]RNlOM�NRMO�̂[WMS�MX�R�XNYRVQO�MhR[�WM�YXOSMX�kX[SMN̂kM�[OU�R�XNYRVQO�̂[WMSc���VONMW�UNXMO�W[�R[O]RWQijhO�khRQQO[uO�̀XN�kWMWOS�Ŝkh�RS�nONlOQOZ�WS�MhRM�SMRMOR[Y�̀OYONRQ�̀̂[YW[u�SX̂NkOSc�UhWkh�MZgWkRQQZ�hOQg�MhO]

V̂WQY�[OU�R�XNYRVQO�hX̂SW[uc�X�O[�kR[TM�VO�̂SOY�MXRk|̂WNO�OoWSMW[u�V̂WQYW[uSc��VONMW�SRWYi
%)0���0/0,�.3*�(�10,(,1�(1�>�?1/001�@)(1&�-./�.30/�(=04(=0*�&(+=�20�2(&�C(1420=�120�9<+)=+,A�=010/+./(10<,=0/�&030/()�;/.;0/1:�'(,(A0'0,1�4.';(,+0&B�0/0,�.3�&(+=�20�2.;0&�+1&�,0C�.C,0/&*�120�I()+-./,+(I.''<,+1:��.<&+,A�%A0,4:*�C+))�90�90110/�)(,=)./=&BI/0=+1J�>0)):�?<))+3(,wRQwxyc�X[�MhO�XMhON�hR[Yc�RNNR[uOS�R[Y�t[R[kOS�WMSXU[�YORQSc�RQQXUW[u�kWMWOS�MX�VXXSM�MhOWN�ŜggQZ�X̀R�XNYRVQO�̂[WMS�UWMhX̂M�hR_W[u�MX�ĝM�̂g�MhO�]X[OZ�MXV̂Z�XN�V̂WQY�MhO]i�jhO[c�SMRNMW[u�W[�ZORN�q��X̀�MhOVX[YSc�MhO�kWMZ�kR[�Rk|̂WNO�MhO�gNXgONMZ�VZ�MRlW[u�X_ONWMS�X̂MSMR[YW[u�YOVM���UhWkhc�RkkXNYW[u�MX��VONMWc�kR[VO�gRWY�X��UWMh�NO[MRQ�W[kX]Oi�jhWS�]XYOQ�WS�R[�RQMON[RMW_O�URZ�MX�YÒON�kXSMS�X[�RQRNuO�gNXgONMZ�MhRM�MhO�kWMZ�kX̂QY�[XM�XMhONUWSO�Rk|̂WNOUWMh�k̂NNO[M�̂g̀NX[M�̀̂[YW[u�kXSMS�R[Y�XVQWuRMWX[Sc��hOUNXMOi���������������������������������� ¡wWMWOS�RNO[TM�uOMMW[u�R�XNYRVQO�hX̂SW[u�̀XN�̀NOO�UhO[MhOZ�gRNM[ON�UWMh�wRQwxyc�hXUO_ONi�wX̂[MZ�NOkXNYSShXU�K�LMNOOM�PQRMS�URS�RSSOSSOY�]XNO�MhR[�aqie�]WQQWX[W[�gNXgONMZ�MRoOS�QRSM�ZORNi�vXU�MhRM�MhO�V̂WQYW[u�WSkX[SWYONOY�R�XNYRVQO�hX̂SW[uc�MhRM�VWQQ�UWQQ�uX�YXU[�MX¢ONXiy�PXNVOS�W[_OSMWuRMWX[�W[MX�wRQwxyTS�gNRkMWkOS�QRSM�ZORNkRQQOY�RMMO[MWX[�MX�WMS�ĝNkhRSOS�X̀�R]O[WMZ\NWkh�Q̂ôNZRgRNM]O[M�kX]gQOoOS�W[�XMhON�nRZ�yNOR�kWMWOSc|̂OSMWX[W[u��UhOMhON�MhO�X�O[\]XYOSM�NO[M�YWSkX̂[MS



��������������	
 ������������������������������������������������������������������� ���!

���������"������������"��!��#���#�������������$�������$��������$�$����$����$������ ���
%�&'()*'+,-�.//�0'12(*�0,*,34,+-

5,'61�78,3,+�(7�9'++/,:'6;79,�(,6<6(*�='//�,4,3�9<>,?@�A73�(2,�/7*(�(<B�3,4,6?,-C�D7'6(�@7=,3*�<?(273'(',**?;2�<*�&</&E.F�G735,*�=37(,F�7H,6�A?6;('76�<*�I*2,//;79@<6',*�(2<(�<3,�3?6�5)�<�2<6+A?/�7A�J6<6;',3*�<6+/<=),3*-C�.6+�=2'/,�(2,�'64,*('1<('76�+'+�67(�*@,;'J;<//),B<9'6,�K�L(3,,(�G/<(*�M�=2';2�/<;>*�(2,�*</(=<(,3@77/*�73�)71<�*(?+'7*�(2<(�<((3<;(,+�*;3?('6)�<(�7(2,3&</&E.�5?'/+'61*�M�'(�67(,+�(2,�<1,6;)N*�+,</*�2<4,6,((,+�9'//'76*�7A�+7//<3*�'6�A,,*�@<'+�(7�J39*�'647/4,+'6�5?)'61�<6+�9<6<1'61�'(*�3,</�,*(<(,�@73(A7/'7-O2,3,�'*�/'((/,�*(<(,�74,3*'12(�7A�&</&E.�<6+�7(2,3,6('(',*�/'>,�'(F�P,(;</A�*<'+F�<6+�A,=�*(<6+<3+*�A73,4</?<('61�I=2<(�9<>,*�<�177+�(3<6*<;('76C�<*�(2,)�5?)?@�973,�@37@,3(',*-�O2,�Q?,*('76F�2,�*<'+F�;79,*�+7=6(7�=2,(2,3�(2,�3,6(�+'*;7?6(*�<3,�+,,@�,67?12�(7<;;79@/'*2�(2,�17</�7A�27?*'61�9'++/,:'6;79,�(,6<6(*F<6+�<3,�=73(2�A7317'61�(2,�5?'/+'61N*�@37@,3()�(<B3,4,6?,-IR7?�=<6(�(7�>67=�(2<(�(2'*�2<*�*79,�<;(?</�5,6,J(FC*<'+�P,(;</AF�=27�+,;/'6,+�(7�;799,6(�*@,;'J;<//)�76(2,�K�L(3,,(�G/<(*�@?3;2<*,-�ISA�(27*,�3,6(*�<3,�67=<873+<5/,�(7�*79,57+)�=27�'*�*Q?<3,/)�<�97+,3<(,:'6;79,�27?*,27/+F�(2<(N*�@3,(()�,6;7?3<1'61-CS6�2'*�=3'((,6�;799,6(*F�T5,3('�,9@2<*'U,+�(2,�4</?,7A�K�L(3,,(�G/<(*N�3,6(�+'*;7?6(*�'*�/'>,/)�(7�137=�74,3('9,-IO2'*�<;Q?'*'('76�='//�<//7=�3,6(*�(7�5,�(',+�(7�'6;79,*3<(2,3�(2<6�(2,�9<3>,(F�=2';2�2<*�2'*(73';<//)�V3'*,6WA<*(,3�(2<6�'6;79,*FC�2,�*<'+-L('//F�P,(;</A�*<'+�(2<(�A73�67=F�IX4,3)�;'()�'*�2<4'61�(7+7�(2'*�@?5/';�5,6,J(�(,*(�A73�(2,9*,/4,*-C

YZ[\[]�̂_Z̀�aZbZ[cde�fdg[]Zh�di]�]b\jk�\[h�lbgmZ�g[�\j]\gbnZ__�\]�o�p]bZZ]�q_\]j�g[�r\[i\bst�ubZhg]v�oZ__spi__ge\[.*�A73�P,3,6>74F�(2,�K�L(3,,(�G/<(*�(,6<6(F�2,�27@,*�(2,6,=�7=6,3*�;<6�(?36�(2,�(37?5/,+�5?'/+'61�<37?6+�M5?(�<H,3�973,�(2<6�<�+,;<+,�(2,3,F�2,�'*6N(�7@('9'*(';-P,3,6>74�+,*;3'5,+�L,Q?7'<�XQ?'(',*�S6;73@73<(,+F�<w</6?(�&3,,>�@37@,3()�9<6<1,9,6(�J39�&</&E.;76(3<;(,+�='(2�(7�9<6<1,�(2,�;79@/,BF�<*�I*/'12(/)5,((,3C�(2<6�(2,�3,47/4'61�+773�7A�;79@<6',*�2,�+,</(='(2�'6�(2,�@<*(F�=27�2,�<;;?*,+�7A�2<3<**'61�2'9�<6+7(2,3�5,/7=�9<3>,(�3<(,�(,6<6(*-�L('//F�P,3,6>74�3<((/,+78�<�/761�/'*(�7A�;79@/<'6(*�<57?(�K�L(3,,(�G/<(*N;76+'('76F�3<61'61�A379�<�3,;?33'61�;7;>37<;2�@375/,9'6�2'*�?6'(�(7�=<3@,+�x773*�<6+�@773/)�*,;?3,+,6(3)=<)*�(2<(�<//7=�A73�@<;><1,�(2,H*�<6+�7(2,3@375/,9*-�L,Q?7'<�XQ?'(',*�S6;73@73<(,+�+'+�67(3,*@76+�(7�9?/('@/,�3,Q?,*(*�A73�;799,6(-Iw,�2<4,6N(�3,<//)�*,,6�<6)(2'61�2<@@,6C�*'6;,�&</&E.57?12(�(2,�5?'/+'61F�2,�*<'+-O,6<6(*�2<4,�2,<3+�6,=�@37@,3()�9<6<1,3*�@379'*,'9@374,9,6(�5,A73,F�P,3,6>74�*<'+F�5?(�I=,�+76N(>67=�(7�=2<(�+,13,,�(2<(N*�<�5?6;2�7A�yL-Cz{|}�~��{����{�����������{��������{}�����}�����|}���{���|{�����������{����{|}����������{���}������{������z~��{����


	5.
	6.a.
	8.a.
	8.b.
	8.c.
	8.d.
	8.e
	9.f.
	9.g.
	10.a.
	10.c.
	10.d.
	10.f.



